
MEETING AGENDA

Please silence all electronic devices as a courtesy to those in attendance.  Thank you.

5:30 p.m. CLOSED SESSION
This item has been set aside for the City Council to meet in a closed session to discuss matters pursuant to Government Code Section 
54956.9(d)(4). The City Attorney will provide an oral report regarding the Closed Session. 

1. Government Code Section 54957.6
Conference with Labor Negotiator
Agency Designated Representatives:  Mary Lerner, City Attorney and Michelle Speer,
Assistant City Manager
Employee Organizations: General Association of Service Employees, Lemoore Police
Officers Association, Lemoore Police Sergeants Unit, Police Professional Services
Bargaining Unit, and Unrepresented

ADJOURNMENT

5:45 p.m. REGULAR SESSION

a. CALL TO ORDER
b. INVOCATION
c. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
d. ROLL CALL
f. AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS, AND/OR DELETIONS
g. CLOSED SESSION REPORT

PUBLIC COMMENT

Public comment will be in accordance with the attached policy. This time is reserved for members of the audience to address 
the City Council on items of interest that are not on the Agenda and are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Council.  It is 
recommended that speakers limit their comments to three (3) minutes each and it is requested that no comments be made during this
period on items on the Agenda. The Council is prohibited by law from taking any action on matters discussed that are not on the 
Agenda.  Prior to addressing the Council, any handouts for Council will be provided to the City Clerk for distribution to the Council and 
appropriate staff. The public will have an opportunity to comment on items on the agenda once the item has been called and the 
Mayor opens the item to the public.

CEREMONIAL / PRESENTATION – Section 1

1-1 Retirement of Fire Chief German (Olson)

DEPARTMENT AND CITY MANAGER REPORTS – Section 2

2-1 Department & City Manager Reports

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

LEMOORE CITY COUNCIL
COUNCIL CHAMBER 

429 C STREET 
January 17, 2023 

1



CONSENT CALENDAR – Section 3 
Items considered routine in nature are placed on the Consent Calendar.  They will all be considered and voted upon in one vote as 

one item unless a Council member or member of the public requests individual consideration. 

3-1 Approval – Minutes – Regular Meeting – January 3, 2023
3-2 Approval – Resolution 2023-03 – Authorizing Continued Use of Remote Teleconferencing

Provisions (AB 361) 
3-3 Approval – Agreement Extension with Labor Time for Temporary Staff
3-4 Approval – Administrative Policy 2023-01 – Surplus Property
3-5 Approval – Appointment of Lemoore Planning Commissioner
3-6 Approval – Appointment of Lemoore Parks and Recreation Commissioners
3-7 Approval – Budget Amendment – Parks and Recreation (4242)
3-8 Approval – Acceptance of Donations from Natural Healing Center and Approval of Budget

Amendments, Amending Expenditures for Effected Departments 

PUBLIC HEARINGS – Section 4 
Report, discussion and/or other Council action will be taken. 

4-1 Public Hearing – Resolution 2023-02, Approving the Disposition and Development
Agreement between the City of Lemoore and AMG & Associates for the Sale and 
Development of City-Owned Surplus Land Located at the Southeast Corner of East D 
Street and Smith Avenue in the City of Lemoore (APNs 023-020-065 and  023-020-
064) (Brandt)

NEW BUSINESS – Section 5 
Report, discussion and/or other Council action will be taken. 

No New Business. 

BRIEF CITY COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS – Section 6 

6-1 City Council Reports / Requests

ADJOURNMENT 

Upcoming Council Meetings 

 City Council Regular Meeting, Tuesday, February 7, 2023 
 City Council Regular Meeting, Tuesday, February 21, 2023 

Agendas for all City Council meetings are posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at the Council Chamber, 429 C Street and 
the Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive. Written communications from the public for the agenda must be 
received by the City Clerk’s Office no less than seven (7) days prior to the meeting date.  The City of Lemoore complies with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA of 1990). The Council Chamber is accessible to the physically disabled. Should you need 
special assistance, please call (559) 924-6744, at least 4 business days prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC NOTIFICATION 
I, Marisa Avalos, City Clerk for the City of Lemoore, declare under penalty of perjury that I posted the 
above Regular City Council Agenda for the meeting of January 17, 2023 at Council Chamber, 429 C 
Street and Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive, Lemoore, CA on January 13, 2023. 

//s// 
Marisa Avalos, City Clerk 

2



CITY OF LEMOORE 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

JANUARY 17, 2023 @ 5:30 p.m. 
 
All upcoming regular and special City Council meetings will be open to members of the public 
on a first come, first served basis and via Zoom. The meeting may be viewed through the 
following options:  
 
 Join Zoom Meeting 
 Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
 https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82553386118?pwd=VElocC9kcFJHTUVOOHpKT2cvK2puUT09 
 Meeting ID: 825 5338 6118 
 Passcode: 163670 
 Phone: +1 669 900 6833 

 
The City will also provide links to streaming options on the City’s website and on its Facebook 
page.   

 
If you wish to make a general public comment or public comment on a particular item on the 
agenda, participants may do so via Zoom during the meeting or by submitting public 
comments by e-mail to: cityclerk@lemoore.com.  In the subject line of the e-mail, please state 
your name and the item you are commenting on.  If you wish to submit a public comment on more 
than one agenda item, please send a separate e-email for each item you are commenting on.  Please 
be aware that written public comments, including your name, may become public information. 
Additional requirements for submitting public comments by e-mail are provided below.  
 
General Public Comments & Comments on City Council Business Items 
  
For general public comments and comments regarding specific City Council Business Items, 
public comments can be made via Zoom during the meeting or all public comments must be 
received by e-mail no later than 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Comments received by this time 
will be read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such 
comments may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker.  Any portion 
of your comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions.  
If a general public comment or comment on a business item is received after 5:00 p.m., efforts will 
be made to read your comment into the record.  However, staff cannot guarantee that written 
comments received after 5:00 p.m. will be read.  All written comments that are not read into the 
record will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comments are received prior 
to the end of the City Council meeting. 
 
Public Hearings 
 
For public comment on a public hearing, all public comments must be received by the close of the 
public hearing period.  All comments received by the close of the public hearing period will be 
read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such comments 
may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker.  Any portion of your 

3



comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions.  If a 
comment on a public hearing item is received after the close of the public hearing, such comment 
will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comment is received prior to the end 
of the meeting.  

*PLEASE BE AWARE THAT ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS RECEIVED THAT DO NOT
SPECIFY A PARTICULAR AGENDA ITEM WILL BE READ ALOUD DURING THE
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT PORTION OF THE AGENDA.*

The City thanks you for your cooperation in advance. Our community’s health and safety is our 
highest priority. 

4



1 
 

Item 3-1 
 

January 3, 2023 Minutes 
Lemoore City Council Meeting 

Regular Session Meeting 
 

CALL TO ORDER: 
At 5:30 p.m., the meeting was called to order. 

 
ROLL CALL: Mayor:  MATTHEWS 
 Mayor Pro Tem:  GORNICK (arrived at 5:48 p.m.) 
 Council Members: CHANEY, LYONS, ORTH 
  
  
City Staff and contract employees present: City Manager Olson; City Attorney Lerner; Public 
Works Director Rivera; Police Chief Kendall, Management Analyst Baley; Community Services 
Manager Greenlee; Maintenance Worker Miller; Recreation Coordinator Soto; Recreation 
Coordinator Upadhyay; Fire Chief German; Management Analyst Reeder; Maintenance 
Coordinator Machado; City Clerk Avalos. 
 

AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS, AND/OR DELETIONS 
 

No agenda additions or deletions. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Tom Reed wished everyone a Happy New Year. He thanked Mr. Lyons for his service as Mayor. 
He did an outstanding job. Wished good luck to Mayor Matthews.  
 
Alex Walker wished everyone a Happy New Year. He thinks it’s a great opportunity for the City to 
be more accessible to the public. It is also a great opportunity for Council Members to walk their 
districts to identify areas of improvement. 
 

CEREMONIAL / PRESENTATION – Section 1 
 

No Ceremonies or Presentations. 
 

DEPARTMENT AND CITY MANAGER REPORTS – Section 2 
 
Police Chief Kendall wished the Council a Happy New Year. Compiling stats for 2022. Annual 
report will be coming to Council in the next couple of months. Overall calls for service were down 
by 547 which allowed proactivity by officers. Increased traffic stops by 951. Total reports 
generated were up by 627. Felony arrests were up by 8 and Misdemeanor arrests were up by 
204. There were 60 more arrests for driving without a license and 50 more DUI arrests. Citations 
were also up by 678. This is the first year without a homicide since 2018. 
 
City Manager Olson informed Council that multiple staff from Public Works is out sick and at jury 
duty. He welcomed everyone to the New Year. A lot of good things happening with economic 
development. New businesses coming to town. He will be out on vacation January 12th through 
January 18th. Assistant City Manager Speer will be in attending the next Council meeting.  
 
 

5



2 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR – Section 3 
 
3-1 Approval – Minutes – Regular Meeting – December 6, 2022 
3-2 Approval – Resolution 2023-01 – Authorizing Continued Use of Remote Teleconferencing 

Provisions (AB 361) 
3-3 Approval – Notice of Completion – CIP 5021 – Lemoore Youth Sports Complex Shade 

Structures Project 
3-4 Approval – Notice of Completion – CIP 5032 – Citywide School Safety Maintenance 

Project 
 
Item 3-2 and 3-3 were pulled for separate consideration.  
 
Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Council Member Lyons, to approve the Consent 
Calendar, except items 3-2 and 3-4. 
 
Ayes: Orth, Lyons, Chaney, Matthews 
Absent: Gornick 
 
3-2 Approval – Resolution 2023-01 – Authorizing Continued Use of Remote Teleconferencing 

Provisions (AB 361) 
 
Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Council Member Lyons, to approve Resolution 
2023-01, Authorizing Continued Use of Remote Teleconferencing. 
 
Ayes: Orth, Lyons, Chaney, Matthews 
Absent: Gornick 
 
3-3 Approval – Notice of Completion – CIP 5021 – Lemoore Youth Sports Complex Shade 

Structures Project 
 
Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Council Member Lyons, to approve the Notice of 
Completion – CIP 5021 – Lemoore Youth Sports Complex Shade Structures Project. 
 
Ayes: Orth, Lyons, Chaney, Matthews 
Absent: Gornick 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS – Section 4 
 
4-1 Public Hearing – Resolution 2023-02, Approving the Disposition and Development 

Agreement between the City of Lemoore and AMG & Associates for the Sale and 
Development of City-Owned Surplus Land Located at the Southeast Corner of East D 
Street and Smith Avenue in the City of Lemoore (APNs 023-020-065 and  023-020-
064) (Brandt) 

 
Public Hearing opened at: 6:02 p.m. 
 
Spoke: Tom Reed 
 Alex Walker 
 Carolyn Cane 
 Steve Brandt  
 Don Siegel 
 Bruce Polder 
 Pamela Hansen 

6



3 
 

Jeff Chedester 
Jacon Soroudi 

 
Public Hearing closed at: 6:55 p.m. 
 
Motion by Council Member Gornick, seconded by Council Member Orth, to hold a special City 
Council Meeting on January 10th to consist of a Closed Session and to continue to Public Hearing 
at the next City Council meeting on January 17, 2023. 
 
Ayes: Gornick, Orth, Chaney, Lyons, Matthews 
 

NEW BUSINESS – Section 5 
 
No New Business. 
 

BRIEF CITY COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS – Section 6 
 
6-1 City Council Reports / Requests 
 
Council Member Orth thanked all City staff for the hard work that they did during the holidays. 
Police has done a great job and kept crime low. Thanked everyone who worked on the housing 
project. Great conversation and information. Thanked the eight businesses who attended the 
Downtown Roundtable meeting on December 13th. Another meeting is scheduled for January 24th. 
He invited downtown business owners to attend. 
 
Mayor Pro Matthews mentioned that KCAO’s food distribution is scheduled for January 23rd at 
8:00 a.m. Wreaths Across America is accepting donations for wreaths. Donations are being 
matched. This is the first time they will be covering Lemoore. Thanked the Lemoore Police 
Department. They do so much during December. She thanked them for letting her be apart of it. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 7:00 p.m., Council adjourned. 
 
Approved the 17th day of January 2023. 
 
      APPROVED: 
 
 
             
       Patricia Matthews, Mayor   
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Marisa Avalos, City Clerk    

7



“In God We Trust”

                                                                           

  
   City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

711 W. Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744

Staff Report
Item No: 3-2

         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Nathan Olson, City Manager
Date: January 5, 2022 Meeting Date:    January 17, 2023
Subject: Resolution 2023-03 – Authorizing Continued Use of Remote 

Teleconferencing Provisions (AB 361)

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Approve Resolution 2023-03, Authorizing the City Manager, or designee, to Continue with 
Teleconferenced Public Meetings Pursuant to Assembly Bill 361.

Subject/Discussion:
On September 16, 2021, the California legislature passed Assembly Bill (“AB”) 361, which 
amends Government Code, section 54953 and permits a local agency to use 
teleconferencing to conduct its meetings in any of the following circumstances: (A) the 
legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local 
officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing; (B) the 
legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of 
determining, by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person 
would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees; or (C) the legislative body 
holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency and has determined, by majority 
vote, pursuant to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person 
would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees. 

In order for the City Council to use teleconferencing as allowed by AB 361 after October 1, 
2021, it must first adopt findings in a resolution, allowing the City Council to conduct 
teleconferenced meetings for a period of thirty (30) days. The City Council made such 
findings on May 23, 2022. In addition, AB 361 requires the City make specified findings 
every 30 days thereafter. Such additional findings were made by the City Council on June 
15, 2022, July 5, 2022, August 2, 2022, August 16, 2022, September 6, 2022, October 4, 
2022. November 1, 2022, November 15, 2022, December 6, 2022 and January 3, 2023.

8



“In God We Trust” 

Financial Consideration(s): 
No substantial costs noted.  

Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
Do not continue with virtual meetings. 

Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not Applicable. 

Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends City Council approve Resolution 2023-03, Authorizing the City Manager 
to Continue with Teleconferenced Public Meetings Pursuant to Assembly Bill 361. 

Attachments:  Review: Date: 
 Resolution: 2023-03  Asst. City Manager 01/12/2023 
 Ordinance:   City Attorney 01/13/2023 
 Map  City Clerk 01/13/2023 
 Contract  City Manager 
 Other   Finance 01/12/2023 
 List: 

9



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-03 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-03 

 A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE AUTHORIZING 
CONTINUED USE OF REMOTE TELECONFERENCING PROVISIONS (AB 361) 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Lemoore (“City Council”) is committed to 
open and transparent government, and full compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act (“Brown 
Act”); and  

WHEREAS, the Brown Act generally requires that a public agency take certain actions in 
order to use teleconferencing to attend a public meeting virtually; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council recognizes that a local emergency persists due to the 
worldwide COVID-19 pandemic; and 

WHEREAS, the California Legislature has recognized the ongoing state of emergency due 
to the COVID-19 pandemic and has responded by creating an additional means for public meetings 
to be held via teleconference (inclusive of internet-based virtual meetings); and 

WHEREAS, on September 16, 2021, the California legislature passed Assembly Bill 
(“AB”) 361, which amends Government Code, section 54953 and permits a local agency to use 
teleconferencing to conduct its meetings in any of the following circumstances: (A) the legislative 
body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local officials have 
imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing; (B) the legislative body holds a 
meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of determining, by majority vote, 
whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health 
or safety of attendees; or (C) the legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 
emergency and has determined, by majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of 
the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees; 
and 

WHEREAS, in order for the City Council to use teleconferencing as allowed by AB 361 
after October 1, 2021, it must first adopt findings in a resolution, allowing the City Council to 
conduct teleconferenced meetings for a period of thirty (30) days. Such adoption occurred by the 
City Council on May 23, 2022; and 

WHEREAS, AB 361 requires the City make specified findings every 30 days thereafter; 
and  

WHEREAS, such additional findings were made by the City Council on May 23, 2022, 
June 15, 2022, July 5, 2022, August 2, 2022. August 16, 2022, September 6, 2022, October 4, 
2022, November 1, 2022, November 15, 2022, December 6, 2022, and January 3, 2023 with the 
approval of Resolutions No. 2022-22, 2022-25, 2022-29, 2022-33, 2022-34, 2022-35, 2022-37, 
2022-39, 2022-40, 2022-41, and 2023-01; and 

10



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-03 

WHEREAS, Governor Gavin Newsom declared a state of emergency for the State of 
California due to the COVID-19 pandemic in his order entitled “Proclamation of a State of 
Emergency,” signed March 4, 2020; and/or 
 

WHEREAS, the California Occupational and Safety Health Administration (OSHA) 
continues to recommend certain social distancing requirements, as described in detail in California 
Code of Regulations Title 8, section 3205 Covid Prevention; and/or 

 

WHEREAS, the County of Kings Department of Public Health in its August 28, 2021 
press release urged “…everyone to physical distance themselves from others…” and further 
recommends as a “very effective” step that people can take: “Stay in your home as much as 
possible. The only exceptions should be for getting food and/or necessary household supplies, 
medications and medical treatments.”  
 

WHEREAS, the City Council hereby finds that the state and local emergencies have 
caused and will continue to cause imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council is conducting its meetings through the use of telephonic and 
internet-based services so that members of the public may observe and participate in meetings and 
offer public comment.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the recitals set forth above are true and 
correct and fully incorporated into this Resolution by reference.   
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council is conducting meetings during a 
state of emergency and OSHA recommends measures to promote social distancing; and/or   
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council has determined that given the state 
of emergency, holding in-person only meetings would present imminent risks to the health or 
safety of attendees.  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the actions taken by the City Council through this 
resolution shall be applied to all City committees governed by the Brown Act unless otherwise 
desired by that committee.  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the City Council authorizes the City Manager or their 
designee(s) to take all actions necessary to continue to conduct City Council meetings in 
accordance with Government Code section 54953(e) and all other applicable provisions of the 
Brown Act, using teleconferencing for a period of thirty (30) days from the adoption of this 
Resolution after which the City Council will again reconsider the circumstances of the state of 
emergency. 
 
 
 
 
 

11



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-03 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Lemoore City Council on this 17th day of January 2023, 
by the following vote: 
 
 AYES:   

 NOES:   

 ABSENT:  

 ABSTAIN:                  

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________   _________________________ 
Marisa Avalos       Patricia Matthews 
City Clerk      Mayor 

12



“In God We Trust”

     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-9003

Staff Report

Item No: 3-3
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Frank Rivera, Public Works Director.
Date: January 6, 2023 Meeting Date:    January 17, 2023
Subject: Agreement Extension with Labor Time for Temporary Staff

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Approve the agreement extension with Labor Time for Temporary staff and authorize the 
City Manager, or designee, to execute any necessary documents.

Subject/Discussion:
In an attempt to reduce cost with upcoming projects and tasks, the City is requesting to 
extend the agreement with Labor Time for an additional 6 weeks. Labor Time staff has 
currently been completing various tasks in the Water Division for 10 weeks. Tasks and 
projects being completed by the temporary staff include solar fields clean up, corrosive 
repairs at well sites, and other miscellaneous tasks. The city is currently in an agreement 
with Specialized Utility Services Program (SUSP) for City Water operations, however the 
tasks being completed by Labor Time are not included in SUSP’s scope of work.

Financial Consideration (s):
The current 10 week agreement totaled $48,472.08 in cost for services. The additional 6 
weeks will cost $29,523.60. The total 16 week agreement will be $77,995.60. These 
services will be paid through the Water Division.. 

Alternatives or Pros/Cons:
Pros:

Additional support in the Water division to assist with projects and tasks.

13



“In God We Trust” 
 

Cons:  
 None noted. 

Alternative:  
 Council could reject the request and rejection would result in outsourcing certain 

tasks at a higher rate.  
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not Applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends Council approve the agreement extension with Labor Time for 
Temporary staff in the amount of $29,523.60 and approve the City Manager, or designee, 
to execute any necessary documents. 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager 01/12/2023    
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 01/13/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 01/13/2023 
 Contract    City Manager  
 Other     Finance 01/12/2023 
 

14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



“In God We Trust”

     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744

Staff Report

Item No: 3-4
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From Nathan Olson, City Manager
Date: January 9, 2023 Meeting Date:    January 17, 2023
Subject: Administrative Policy 2023-01 – Surplus Property

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Approve the Administrative Policy 2023-01 regarding Surplus Property.

Subject/Discussion:
This policy sets forth general duties, responsibilities, and authority regarding the retention 
and disposition of surplus property. Classification of surplus property in this policy is as
follows: departmental, general, computer equipment, vehicle and rolling stock and non-
surplus.

If approved, the City will begin utilizing the policy to remove an abundance of surplus 
property at the Cinnamon Municipal Complex.

Financial Consideration(s):
This policy will reduce labor costs in the asset disposal process. 

Alternatives or Pros/Cons:
Pros:

Additional avenues to maximize resale value of surplus assets.
Cons:

None noted.

25



“In God We Trust” 
 

Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not Applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends approval of the Administrative Policy 2023-01 regarding Surplus 
Property. 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager 01/12/2023    
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 01/13/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 01/13/2023 
 Contract    City Manager  
 Other     Finance 01/12/2023 
 List: Administrative Policy 2023-01 

26



                                                                             City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive -6744 ax -6708

Administrative Policy 2023-01: 

SURPLUS PROPERTY

PURPOSE:

This Policy sets forth general duties, responsibilities, and authority regarding the retention and 
disposition of surplus property.  Grant Funded programs may have assets with separate retention and 
disposition requirements unique to their departments and subject to other guidelines not addressed in 
this Policy.

CLASSIFICATION OF SURPLUS PROPERTY: 

A. Departmental Surplus is property that is no longer required by the responsible department, 
but may be useful to another department.  

B. General Surplus is property that is no longer required by the responsible department and in 
all probability cannot be used by another department. 

C. Computer Equipment Surplus is property determined by the Information Technology 
Department to be obsolete and no longer useful to City of Lemoore. 

D. Vehicle and Rolling Stock Surplus is property determined by Public Works or Fire 
Department, as applicable, to be obsolete and no longer useful to City of Lemoore. 

E.  Non-Surplus is property that is non-functional and valued under $1,000, or no longer 
required, cannot be reused, and is considered non-sensitive assets.  Non-sensitive assets 
include, but are not limited to, staplers, footrests, desktop organizers, calculators, and other 
small furnishings. These items are subject to the limitations specified in the Disposal of 
Property section below. These items are to be disposed of at the departmental level and are 
not to be sent to the warehouse for disposal. 

PLAN FOR DEPARTMENT NOTIFICATION OF DEPARTMENTAL SURPLUS

A. Each Department Head shall be familiar with the department's current assets and future 
requirements for fixed assets 

B. In order to communicate the availability of surplus property, each Department Head shall 
e-mail the Fleet Division a detailed list of property designated as surplus at the time it is 

27



declared surplus. The originating Department shall establish the length of time that the 
property being advertised will remain available for transfer.  

1. Departments with the potential need for the listed items shall coordinate with the 
Fleet Division to select a time to view items while they are intact and at their current 
location. 

2. Items will be awarded in the order requests are received. 
3. The “Asset Disposal / Transfer Form” must be completed by the Department Head 

prior to or at the time of transfer.   One copy of the completed form shall be sent to 
the Fleet Division, one copy retained by the transferring department, and one copy 
provided to the receipting department. 
 

 
TRANSFER OF PROPERTY, EXCLUDING SURPLUS COMPUTER EQUIPMENT, 
VEHICLES AND ROLLING STOCK 
 

A. When a department has property that it no longer needs and no other department has 
indicated a need for the property, or when the property is proposed to be traded-in on a new 
piece of equipment, the Discharge of Asset Accountability portion of the “Surplus Property 
Form” must be completed and signed by the department head, or Department Surplus 
Property Coordinator.  The Purchasing Manager or County Surplus Property Coordinator 
should be notified via email of the department’s intention to seek relief from the asset(s).  
 

B. Prior to physical movement of the property, the initiating department shall receive a signed 
copy of the Surplus Property Form from the Fleet Division. Only property designated 
Department Surplus or General Surplus will be considered for storage.   
 

TRANSFER OF COMPUTER EQUIPMENT SURPLUS 
 

A. The Information Technology Division will coordinate the movement of Computer 
Equipment declared surplus to ITD.  As needed, ITD will perform cleansing to remove any 
City of Lemoore data or information. 
 

B. After preparation for disposal, ITD will arrange for the movement of the assets to the 
warehouse or transfer to a third party. 
 

TRANSFER OF SURPLUS VEHICLES AND ROLLING STOCK 
 

A. Departments will request approval from the City Manager and the Fleet Division for the 
disposition of all surplus vehicles and rolling stock. 
 

B. Generally, the assets will either be traded-in or sold at public auction. 
 

C. The Fleet Division, as appropriate, will be responsible for the transportation and sale 
arrangements of the assets.  

  
D. Department Heads will be responsible to adjust their inventory and report the changes to 

the Department of Finance. 

28



STORAGE OF PROPERTY 
 

A. Property transferred to the Cinnamon Municipal Complex (CMC) shall be placed under 
the immediate control of the Fleet Division for safekeeping and control. Fleet shall 
maintain a current inventory list.   

 

DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY 

Disposal of property may only be authorized by the City Manager or Fleet Division. 

 

A. City Manager Authorization – The City Manager alone shall determine whether to 
dispose of City property which has a scrap value of $1,000 or more. If after a reasonable 
period of time it appears that property so valued and under the control of the Fleet Division 
cannot be used by the City, the Fleet Division shall submit an Asset Disposal Form. 
Following approval to dispose of such property, the Fleet Division shall proceed with 
disposal resulting in the highest possible return of scrap value.   
The City Manager shall have approval authority for the disposition of all surplus vehicles 
and rolling stock. 

B. Fleet Division Responsibility – Property that has a scrap value of less than $5,000 and 
which cannot be used by the City may be disposed of by the Fleet Division using methods 
and procedures which returns the greatest value to the City or the lowest possible cost.  
Disposal, if determined to be economically advantageous, may include donating the 
property to a non-profit entity for their pick-up and use.  Generally property donated, and 
later determined to be of no use to party donated to, and with a potential resale value, it 
shall be stipulated in the donation agreement that property is to be donated back to the City 
for sale.   
 

C. Limitations - Except for the Fleet Division, as prescribed in this section, no department 
head or employee shall under any circumstance, sell, give away, or exchange City property, 
without specific directive from the City Manager. This refers to operating equipment, 
office furniture, and any other tangible property belonging to the County. 
 

D. Donating County General Surplus – Donations of General Surplus property to local non-
profits shall be at the sole discretion of the City Manager, considering the thresholds listed 
in VIII A and B above.   

 
RENTAL OR LOAN PROVISIONS  

 
The rental or loan of City property, either real or personal, to persons other than as directed by the 
City Manager is prohibited. 
 
TRADE-INS 
When property disposal involves trade-in, the procedures for disposal shall be the same as other 
property, as listed in Section “Disposal of Property”. 

 

29



“In God We Trust”

     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-6708

Staff Report

Item No: 3-5
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Marisa Avalos, City Clerk / Executive Assistant
Date: January 5, 2023 Meeting Date:    January 17, 2023
Subject: Appointment of Lemoore Planning Commissioner

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Approve the appointments/re-appointments to the Planning Commission, as 
recommended by Mayor Matthews.

Subject/Discussion:
The Planning Commission currently has one vacancy as of December 31, 2022. The 
vacancy was posted at City Hall, Cinnamon Municipal Complex, and the City website.
Two applications were received. The applicants are:

Bob Clement
Richard Jacobs

Mayor Matthews is recommending re-appointment of Mr. Clement.

Concurrence of at least two Council Members is required for the appointments to be 
official.

Financial Consideration(s):
None. The appointments are volunteer positions.

30



“In God We Trust” 
 

Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
Pros: 

 Fills vacancies on the Planning Commission 
Cons: 

 None noted. 
 
Alternative: 

 Council could choose to discuss other applicants for appointment. 
 

Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
No recommendation. 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager 01/12/2023    
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 01/13/2023 
 Map    City Clerk  01/13/2023 
 Contract    City Manager  
 Other     Finance 01/12/2023 
 List:  Applications 

31



32



33



34



35



“In God We Trust”

     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-6708

Staff Report

Item No: 3-6
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Marisa Avalos, City Clerk / Executive Assistant
Date: January 5, 2023 Meeting Date:    January 17, 2023
Subject: Appointment of Lemoore Parks and Recreation Commissioners

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Approve the appointments/re-appointments to the Parks and Recreation Commission, as 
recommended by Mayor Matthews. 

Subject/Discussion:
The Recreation Commission currently has three vacancies as of December 31, 2022. The 
vacancies were posted at City Hall, Cinnamon Municipal Complex, and the City website.
Two applications were received. The applicants are:

Bill Wagiu
Michael Paasch

Mayor Matthews is recommending re-appointment of Mr. Wagiu and Mr. Paasch.

Concurrence of at least two Council Members is required for the appointments to be 
official. The City will continuing recruiting to fill vacancies.

Financial Consideration(s):
None. The appointments are volunteer positions.

36



“In God We Trust” 
 

Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
Pros: 

 Fills vacancies on the Parks and Recreation Commission 
Cons: 

 None noted. 
 
Alternative: 

 Council could choose to discuss other applicants for appointment. 
 

Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
No recommendation. 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager 01/12/2023    
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 01/13/2023 
 Map    City Clerk  01/13/2023 
 Contract    City Manager  
 Other     Finance 01/12/2023 
 List:  Applications 

37



38



39



40



41



“In God We Trust”

     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-9003

Staff Report

Item No: 3-7
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Nathan Olson, City Manager
Date: January 9, 2023 Meeting Date:    January 17, 2023
Subject: Budget Amendment – Parks and Recreation (4242)

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Approve budget amendment in the amount of $75,000 from the General Fund 001-(001-
1010) to Parks and Recreation (4242-4310) Professional Services account and (4242-
4220) Operating Supplies.

Subject/Discussion:
Staff is requesting a budget amendment in the amount of $75,000 to fund events and 
programming in the Recreation Division. 

$75,000 will be used for upcoming programs and events such as youth indoor soccer, 
indoor basketball, Easter ,Cinco de Mayo, and 4th of July events. However, the estimated 
revenues from registrations are expected to cover the cost of running new programming 
and events. The department has also hosted new successful programs and events such 
as Mini Kickers, Baby Ballers, Paint nights, Candy Crawl and Jingle and Mingle.

Financial Consideration(s):
The General Fund Reserves is necessary to cover $75,000 in additional increases, 
however registration fees are expected to cover those costs.

Alternatives or Pros/Cons:
Alternative:

42



“In God We Trust” 
 

 City Council can decide not to fund additional programming and events at this 
time.  

 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not Applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends approval of the budget amendment in the amount of $75,000 from the 
General Fund (001-1010) to Parks and Recreation (4242-4310) Professional Services 
account and (4242-4220) Operating Supplies. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager 01/12/2023     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 01/13/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 01/13/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 01/09/2023 
 Other     Finance 01/12/2023 
 List:      Budget Amendment  
 

43



Date: Request By:

Requesting Department: 

TYPE OF BUDGET AMENDMENT REQUEST:

Appropriation Transfer within Budget Unit

All other appropriations (Attach Council approved Staff Report)

FROM:

Fund Budget Unit Account Current Budget Proposed
Increase/Decrease: Proposed New Budget

001 001 1010 (75,000.00)$                   (75,000.00)$                               

TO:

Fund Budget Unit Account Current Budget Proposed
Increase/Decrease: Proposed New Budget

001 4242 4310 73,210.00$              30,000.00$                     103,210.00$                              

001 4242 4220 27,120.00$              45,000.00$                     72,120.00$                                

APPROVALS: 

Completed By:  Date:

Department Head: Date:

1/9/2023City Manager:

JUSTIFICATION FOR CHANGE/FUNDING SOURCE:

To fund additional programming and events. 

1/9/2023 Nathan Olson

Parks and Recreation

CITY OF LEMOORE
BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

44



“In God We Trust”

     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-9003

Staff Report

Item No: 3-8
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Nathan Olson, City Manager
Date: January 9, 2023 Meeting Date:    January 17, 2023
Subject: Acceptance of Donations from Natural Healing Center and Approval of 

Budget Amendments, Amending Expenditures for Effected Departments

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Accept the donations from Natural Healing Center (NHC) in the amount of $14,500, as 
required by the Project Development Agreement (PDA) approved in October 2019 and 
authorize the City Manager, or designee, to execute budget amendments as presented.

Subject/Discussion:
In October of 2019, the City of Lemoore and NHC entered into a Project Development 
Agreement. 

Under section IV, Fees, E it is stated: 

In addition to the Revenue Raising Fee and the Annual License Fee, during each calendar 
year beginning the Effective Date, Developer shall donate a collective minimum of 
Twenty-Four Thousand Dollars ($24,000.00) (“Donations”) to (i) charitable groups that 
provide services or goods primarily within the City; and/or (ii) civic projects within the City 
of Lemoore including, without limitation, projects relating to youth sports or recreational 
activities, senior activities and civic events.  The City may make suggestions to developer 
how the Donations are directed, however, the ultimate decision as to recipient(s) of the 
Donations is within the sole and absolute discretion of Developer.

45



“In God We Trust” 
 

The donations provided are earmarked for the following: 
 
Vets Hall Landscape  $1,500 
Boo Bash    $2,000 
Presents on Patrol   $2,500 
Christmas Events   $5,000 
 
Lemoore Senior Center   $1,500 
Sarah Mooney Museum  $2,000 
 
Staff is requesting increased expenditures for the associated departments/divisions in 
order to facilitate the events for which the donation was provided. Additionally, staff is 
seeking City Council approval to receive funds on behalf of the Lemoore Senior Center 
and Sarah A. Mooney Museum and subsequently issue checks to those entities. Although 
an uncommon practice, due to difficulties in receiving the donation check and the needs 
of both the Lemoore Senior Center and the Sarah A. Mooney Museum, allowing for this 
transaction will provide the most expeditious benefit to the community.  
 
Financial Consideration(s): 
Receipt of $14,500.00 in donations, of which $3,500 are to be distributed to other eligible 
entities in compliance with the PDA. 
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
City Council may decline to accept the donation check, for which other entities are 
apart, and the City can attempt to obtain another check. 
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not Applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends accepting the donations received and authorize the City Manager, or 
designee, to process the associated deposit of fund and budget amendments.  
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager 01/12/2023    
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 01/13/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 01/13/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 01/09/2023 
 Other     Finance 01/12/2023 
 List:  Budget Amendment  
 

46



Date: Request By:

Requesting Department: 

TYPE OF BUDGET AMENDMENT REQUEST:

Appropriation Transfer within Budget Unit

All other appropriations (Attach Council approved Staff Report)

FROM:

Fund Budget Unit Account Current Budget Proposed
Increase/Decrease: Proposed New Budget

001 1010 (11,000.00)$                   (11,000.00)$                               

TO:

Fund Budget Unit Account Current Budget Proposed
Increase/Decrease: Proposed New Budget

001 4220 4350 48,000.00$              1,500.00$                       49,500.00$                                

121 4285 4220 15,000.00$              2,500.00$                       17,500.00$                                

001 4242 4220 27,120.00$              7,000.00$                       34,120.00$                                

APPROVALS: 

1/9/2023 Nathan Olson

Administration

CITY OF LEMOORE
BUDGET AMENDMENT FORM

JUSTIFICATION FOR CHANGE/FUNDING SOURCE:

Donation received from NHC.

Completed By:  Date:

Department Head: Date:

1/9/2023City Manager:

47



      
City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 W. Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744

Staff Report
          Item No: 4-1

         
To: Lemoore City Council
From: Steve Brandt, City Planner
Date: December 16, 2022 Meeting Date: January 17, 2022
Subject: Resolution 2023-02, Approving the Disposition and Development 

Agreement between City of Lemoore and AMG & Associates for the 
Sale and Development of City-owned Surplus Land Located at the 
Southeast Corner of East D Street and Smith Avenue in the City of 
Lemoore (APNs 023-020-065 and 023-020-064)

Strategic Initiative: 

Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Adopt Resolution No. 2023-02, approving the disposition and development agreement 
between the City of Lemoore and AMG & Associates, and authorizing the City Manager, 
or designee, to execute the disposition and development agreement and associated 
documents for the purpose of constructing affordable housing on the property.

Subject/Discussion: 
This vacant, City-owned property was originally purchased with monies meant for the 
development of affordable housing. The City Council adopted Resolution No. 2021-31 on 
December 7, 2021, to declare two parcels owned by the City of Lemoore as Surplus Land 
and authorized the City Manager to send surplus land notices of availability to all 
appropriate public agencies.  This was the first step in a process to sell the city-owned 
property located on the southeast corner of East D Street and Smith Avenue (APNs 023-
020-065 and 023-020-064). This action was a required step for the disposition of surplus 
properties owned by public agencies to make them available for development in 

48



accordance with the Surplus Lands Act (SLA) in State law (Government Code Section 
54221 et seq.).  
 
On January 31, 2022, as part of the second step of the required process, the City provided 
notification to the CA Housing and Community Development Department (HCD) and local 
agencies of intent to sell the surplus property and in accordance with Government Code 
Section 54222, provided agencies 60 days from the date of the notification to submit 
letters of interest.  Three letters were received during the 60-day period which ended 
March 31, 2022.   
 
Per the SLA Guidelines, if a local agency disposing of the surplus land receives a timely 
notice of interest from a proper entity, then a 90-day good faith negotiation period begins.  
There were three affordable housing developers that submitted proposals to purchase 
the site and develop it with affordable housing. As part of this negotiation process, the 
City created a list of areas that one or more of the proposals may have been lacking 
information and sent a request for information letter to the three entities to assist in making 
the review as fair as possible.  The proposals were then reviewed by a panel made up of 
the City Manager, Management Analyst, City Planner, and another QK team member 
familiar with HCD requirements. The proposals were reviewed for completeness and 
evaluated to determine which agency met the greatest number of affordability 
requirements (number of units, type of units, target group).  Information also considered 
during the overall scoring process were type of financing, past performance, type of 
property acquisition, and City concessions requested.  
 
The reviewing panel unanimously determined that AMG & Associates (AMG) proposed 
the greatest number of affordable units where at least 25% of the units will be affordable 
to lower income households (Government Code Section 54227) and scored AMG highest 
overall due in part to type of property acquisition offered and City financial concessions 
requested.  Staff contacted AMG and began conducting verbal negotiations within the 
parameters of the SLA Guidelines during the remainder of the 90-day period.  
 
At the end of the 90-day negotiation period, AMG requested a good faith letter so that 
their team could continue to move forward with negotiations. On June 6, 2022, the City 
Manager provided a letter of intent to negotiate to sell surplus property for an affordable 
housing project and a duly held meeting on October 4, 2022, the City Council adopted 
Resolution No. 2022-38 accepting AMG’s offer for the sale and development of the 
surplus land and authorized the City Manager to enter escrow for sale of the property.   
 
Staff have been working with AMG to finalize the timeline, site plan, and development 
agreement required to complete the sale of the property.  AMG submitted an application 
and fees for major site plan review on October 14, 2022, and during a duly noticed public 
hearing held on November 14, 2022, the Planning Commission considered public 
comment for Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-05 to construct the affordable housing 
complex consisting of 108 residential units with a community building, laundry building, 
outdoor pool, tot lot, and dog park, with access from D Street and Oleander Avenue.  
Testimony was received during the public comment portion of the hearing from two 
neighboring property owners who expressed concern regarding the possibility of 
increased on-street parking and the lack of access from D Street to the east side of 
Oleander Avenue.  Staff provided clarification and the Commission unanimously adopted 

49



Planning Commission Resolution No. 2022-12, approving the site plan as submitted. The 
Commission also approved a determination that the project is exempt from further review 
under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) based on Categorical Exemption 
Class 32 (CEQA Guidelines Section 15532), 
 
City Council approval of the development agreement is the final step in the process prior 
to submittal of the disposition summary to the Department of Housing and Community 
Development HCD for acceptance for the sale and development of the Surplus Land and 
close of escrow.  
 
Financial Consideration(s): 
Financial concessions were not requested by the buyer.  Sale of the surplus land to AMG 
will increase the Housing funds available for future projects.  Additional funds are 
proposed to be available to the City for off-site sidewalk repair/installation and bike lanes 
that would otherwise rely on the City’s CIP budget. 
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
Pros: 

 Development of vacant land that is not suitable for the City’s use. 
 Increase to Housing funds for future projects and or assistance loans. 
 Increase the number of affordable housing units as required by the State. 
 Developer has constructed several successful affordable housing developments 

in Lemoore. 
 Additional funds are proposed to be available for sidewalk and bike lane repair and 

infrastructure within a mile radius of the project site. 

Cons: 

 Negative perception of affordable housing. 

Commission/Board Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission approved Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-05, which included 
the site plan, floor plans, and elevation plans of the proposed project, and approved a 
determination that the project is exempt from further review under CEQA based on 
Categorical Exemption Class 32 (CEQA Guidelines Section 15532).  

Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends City Council adopt the resolution approved the DDA and authorizing 
the City Manager, or designee, to sign the DDA and associated documents to complete 
the sale of City owned surplus land for the purpose of constructing affordable housing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50



Attachments:   Review:   Date: 
 Resolution:     Asst. City Manager 12/27/2022   
 Ordinance:           City Attorney  12/28/2022 
 Map     City Manager  12/28/2022 
 Contract    City Clerk  01/13/2023 
 Other      Finance  01/12/2023 
 List:  Disposition and Development Agreement for Approval 
         City Council Resolution No. 2021-31  
         Notice of Availability/Offer to Sell Surplus Property (January 31, 2022) 

              AMG & Associates Proposal Information 
              City Council Resolution No. 2022-38  
              Planning Commission Resolution No. 2022-12  
              Site Plan and Rendering 

51



RESOLUTION 2023-02 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-02 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE  
APPROVING DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN CITY OF LEMOORE AND AMG & ASSOCIATES FOR THE SALE OF 
CITY OWNED SURPLUS LAND (APNS 023-020-065 AND 023-020-064) 

AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT  
AND ASSOCIATED DOCUMENTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONSTRUCTING 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING ON THE PROPERTY 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Lemoore (“City”) is the owner in fee simple of that certain real 
property located at the southeast corner of East D Street and Smith Avenue in the City of Lemoore 
(APNs 023-020-065 and 023-020-064) totaling 4.92 acres and shown on the vicinity map in 
Exhibit “A”, attached hereto and made a part hereof (“Property”); and  

WHEREAS, in conformance with the Surplus Property Land Act, Government Code 
Sections 54220-54233 (“Act”), the City Council took formal action in a regular public meeting on 
December 7, 2021, declaring the that the Property is surplus and not necessary for the City’s use; 
and  

WHEREAS, the City sent a written notice of availability of the Property to certain 
designated entities on January 31, 2022, and provided a 60-day response period, and 

WHEREAS, the City received three proposals from three affordable housing developers 
for acquisition and development of the surplus land, and 

WHEREAS, the City reviewed the proposals per Surplus Land Act Guidelines, and  

WHEREAS, the City Council took formal action in a regular public meeting on October 7, 
2022, accepting the AMG & Associates offer for the sale and development of the City owned 
Surplus Land, and  

WHEREAS, a duly noticed public hearing was held during a regular meeting of the 
Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore on November 14, 2022, to consider public comment 
for Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-05, which formally proposed construction of an affordable 
housing apartment complex consisting of 108 residential units with a community building, laundry 
building, outdoor pool, tot lot, and dog park; and  

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission took formal action in a regular public meeting on 
November 14, 2022, approving Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-05 and approved a 
determination that the project is exempt from further review under the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) based on Categorical Exemption Class 32 (CEQA Guidelines Section 15532), 
and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council approves the disposition and 
development agreement between the City of Lemoore and AMG & Associates for the sale and 
development of the City owned Surplus Land. 

52



RESOLUTION 2023-02 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Lemoore hereby authorizes 
the City Manager, or designee, to sign disposition and development agreement and associated 
documents for the purpose of constructing affordable housing on the Property. 

 

Passed and adopted at a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Lemoore held on 
January 17, 2023, by the following votes: 
 
 AYES:   

 NOES:   

 ABSENT:  

 ABSTAIN:                  

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED: 
 
 
_________________________   _________________________ 
Marisa Avalos       Patricia Matthews 
City Clerk      Mayor 

53



RESOLUTION 2023-02 

 
City of 

Lemoore EExhibit “A”  
 

54



 

 

 
 

RECORDED AT THE REQUEST OF AND  
WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 
 
City of Lemoore 
Community Development Department 
711 W. Cinnamon Drive 
Lemoore, CA 93245 
 

 

     SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE ONLY 

 
This Agreement is recorded at the request and for the benefit of the City of Lemoore and 

is exempt from the payment of a recording fee pursuant to Government Code Section 6103. 
 
        CITY OF LEMOORE,  
        a municipal corporation 
 
 
        By: _______________________ 
          Nathan Olson 
         City Manager 
 
        Dated: _____________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 

By and Among 
 

CITY OF LEMOORE 
a municipal corporation 

 
and 

 
AMG & ASSOCIATES, LLC 

55



2
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Table of Contents

56



3
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Exhibits

A Legal Description of Property
B Affordable Housing Covenants
C Grant Deed
D Development Schedule
E Form of Certificate of Completion 

57



4 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

THIS DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered 
into effective as of ________, 2023 (“Effective Date”) by and between the City of Lemoore, a 
California municipal corporation, (“City”) and AMG & Associates, a California limited liability 
company (“Developer”).  City and Developer are hereinafter individually referred to as “Party” 
and collectively referred to as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS

A. There is a great demand for affordable rental homes, particularly for low and very 
low income citizens in Lemoore.   

B. City desires to cause the development of up to one hundred eight (108) units of 
extremely low, very low, and low income family rental housing to include twelve (12) one-
bedroom units, sixty (60) two-bedroom units, and thirty-six (36) three-bedroom units 
(“Project”).

C. City owns two (2) parcels of real property, identified as APN 023-020-064 (2.92 
acres in size) and APN 023-020-065 (2 acres in size), located at the southeast corner of Smith 
Avenue and D Street, aggregating 4.92 acres (“Property”), and more particularly described in 
Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, to serve as the future site of 
the Project.

D. In accordance with the California Surplus Land Act, City made the Property 
available for sale and private development, and Developer expressed an interest in purchasing 
the Property to construct the Project as described more particularly in Section V.2. herein, and 
the Affordable Housing Covenants attached hereto as Exhibit B, which shall be executed 
substantially concurrently herewith and recorded against the Property.  

E. Developer is an experienced residential developer and City has determined that 
development of the Property as the “Smith Avenue Family Apartments” are in the best interest of 
the City, the health, safety, and welfare of its residents, and will serve the public purpose in the 
City.

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein 
and good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows.

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

I.1. Definitions.  The following terms shall have the meanings set forth in the Sections 
referenced below whenever used in this Agreement and the Exhibits attached hereto.  Additional 
terms are defined in the Recitals and the text of this Agreement. 

58



5 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(a) “Affordable Housing Covenants” is defined Recital D. 

(b) “Certificate of Completion” is defined in Section V.15. 

(c) “City” is defined in the Preamble. 

(d) “Claims” is defined as liability, loss, cost, expense (including without 
limitation attorneys’ fees and costs of litigation), claim, demand, action, suit, judicial or 
administrative proceeding, penalty, deficiency, fine, order, and damage that arises as a result of 
the actions of Developer or City or any of the agents of the foregoing in relation to and in the 
reasonable scope of this Project. 

(e) “Conditions of Approval” is defined in Section V.2.  

(f) “Construction Plans” is defined in Section V.8. 

(g) “Developer” is defined in the Preamble.

(h) “Environmental Laws” is defined in Section IX.6. 

(i) “Hazardous Materials” is defined in Section IX.5. 

(j) “Improvements” is defined in Section V.2. 

(k) “Indemnitees” is defined as City and its respective elected and appointed 
officers, officials, employees, agents, consultants, and contractors. 

(l) “Official Records” means the official records of Kings County, as 
maintained by the Kings County Clerk/Recorder’s Office. 

(m) “Project” is defined in Recital B and further described in Section V.2. 

(n) “Property” is defined in Recital C.

(o) “Purchase Price” is defined in Section IV.2. 

(p) “Transfer” is defined in Section VII.2 

ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS; EFFECTIVE DATE

II.1. City’s Representations.  City represents and warrants to Developer as follows:

(a) Authority. The City has the full right, power and lawful authority to 
acquire, grant, sell and convey the Property as provided herein, and the execution, performance 

59



6 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

and delivery of this Agreement by the City has been fully authorized by all requisite actions on 
the part of the City.

(b) FIRPTA. City is not a "foreign person" within the parameters of FIRPTA 
or any similar state statute, or is exempt from the provisions of FIRPTA or any similar state 
statute, or that City has complied and will comply with all the requirements under FIRPTA or 
any similar state statute.

(c) No Conflict. To the best of the City's knowledge, the City's execution, 
delivery and performance of its obligations under this Agreement will not constitute a default or 
a breach under any contract, agreement or order to which the City is a party or by which it is 
bound.

(d) Litigation. To the best of the City’s knowledge, there are no actions, suits, 
material claims, legal proceedings or any other proceedings affecting the Property, or any portion 
thereof, at law or in equity, before any court or governmental agency, domestic or foreign.

II.2. Developer’s Representations.  Developer represents and warrants to City as 
follows, and Developer covenants that until the expiration or earlier termination of this 
Agreement, upon learning of any fact or condition which would cause any of the warranties and 
representations in this Section II.1 not to be true, Developer shall immediately give written 
notice of such fact or condition to City.  Developer acknowledges that City shall rely upon 
Developer’s representations made herein notwithstanding any investigation made by or on behalf 
of City. 

(a) Authority.  Developer is a limited partnership, duly organized and in good 
standing under the laws of the State of California.  Developer has the full right, power and 
authority to undertake all obligations of Developer as provided herein, and the execution, 
performance and delivery of this Agreement by Developer has been duly authorized by all 
requisite actions.  The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of Developer have been duly 
authorized to do so.  This Agreement constitutes valid and binding obligations of Developer, 
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.   

(b) Experience.  Developer is an experienced developer and operator of 
residential properties.

(c) No Conflict.  Developer’s execution, delivery, and performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement will not constitute a default or a breach under any contract, 
agreement or order to which Developer is a party or by which it is bound. 

(d) No Litigation or Other Proceeding.  No litigation or other proceeding 
(whether administrative or otherwise) is outstanding or has been threatened which would 
prevent, hinder or delay the ability of Developer to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

(e) No Developer Bankruptcy.  Developer is not the subject of a bankruptcy 
or insolvency proceeding.  

60



7 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(f) FIRPTA.  Developer is not a “foreign person” within the parameters of 
Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 (“FIRPTA”) or any similar state statute or 
is exempt from the provisions of FIRPTA or any similar state statute, or that Developer has 
complied and will comply with all the requirements under FIRPTA or any similar state statute.

(g) Patriot Act.  Developer is in compliance with all laws, statutes, rules, and 
regulations, and any federal, state, and local governmental authority applicable to Developer and 
all beneficial owners of Developer with respect to or arising out of the requirements of any 
orders and other similar requirements contained in the rules and regulations (“Orders”) of the 
Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”).  Neither Developer nor any beneficial owner of 
Developer: (i) is listed on OFAC’s Sanctions Lists (“Lists”); (ii) has been determined by 
competent authority to be subject to the prohibitions contained in any Orders; or (iii) is owned or 
controlled by, not acts for, or on behalf of, any person of entity on the Lists or any other person 
or entity who has been determined by competent authority to be subject to the prohibitions 
contained in the Orders. 

(h) Deliveries.  All documents, instruments, and other information delivered 
by Developer to City pursuant to this Agreement are, to the best of Developer’s knowledge, true, 
correct, and complete.

(i) Commissions.  To the best of Developer’s knowledge, there are no 
broker’s commissions or finder’s fees payable in connection with Property. 

II.3. Effective Date.  The obligations of Developer and City hereunder shall be 
effective as of the Effective Date.  

ARTICLE III
TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

III.1. Failure to Commence Construction of Project. Failure of Developer to acquire the 
“Property” and pursue financing as outlined in Exhibit D “Development Schedule” will result in 
termination of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE IV
DISPOSITION OF THE PROPERTY

IV.1. Purchase and Sale.  Provided that all conditions precedent set forth in this 
Agreement have been satisfied, City shall convey to Developer by “Grant Deed,” substantially in 
the form of Exhibit C, the fee interest in the Property in accordance with and subject to the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement, free and clear of all title defects, liens and encumbrances 
except: 

(a) The provisions and effect of any City plans or requirements.  

(b) The provisions and effect of this Agreement.  

61



8 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(c) Liens for non-delinquent taxes, assessments, and/or bonds.  

(d) Title exceptions set forth in the Preliminary Title Report for the Property 
issued by First American Title Company as of June 10, 2022.  

(e) Such other conditions, liens, encumbrances, restrictions, easements, and 
exceptions as Developer may approve in writing (“Permitted Exceptions”); provided, however, 
that Developer hereby approves the following Permitted Exceptions: 

(i) Property interests held by a public body or public bodies, including 
without limitation easements, franchises, licenses, or other property interests of the public body 
or public bodies, on the Property and/or within the public rights-of-way around the perimeter of 
the Property 

(ii) The lien of any non-delinquent property taxes and assessments (to 
be prorated at the Closing). 

(iii) Any incidental easements or other matters affecting title which do 
not preclude Developer's use of the Property as proposed herein. 

(iv) Such other exceptions to title as may hereafter be mutually 
approved by the City and the Developer. 

Following the Effective Date, absent the consent of Developer, City shall not 
cause or voluntarily agree to allow a lien or other encumbrance which would remain effective 
following conveyance of the Property to attach to the Property. 

IV.2. Purchase Price.  The purchase price for the Property is to be fair market value and 
an amount not to exceed Nine Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($950,000.00).  Developer shall 
deposit into Escrow an earnest money deposit in the amount of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 
($25,000), as defined below, within three (3) working days of opening escrow. 

IV.3. Escrow.  Within (3) working days after signing of this Agreement by both parties, 
escrow shall be open at the office of First American Title Company, 211 East Caldwell Avenue, 
Visalia, CA 93277, attention Ann A. Kay (“Title Company” or “Escrow Agent”) in order to 
consummate the conveyance of the Property to Developer and the closing of escrow (“Closing”) 
for the transactions contemplated hereby. 

IV.4. Costs of Closing and Escrow.   Developer shall pay all costs associated with 
removing any debt encumbering the Property and for all title insurance premiums for policies 
Developer may elect to acquire for the Property.  All other Closing and Escrow costs, including 
without limitation, all title insurance premiums for policies Developer elects to acquire, shall be 
also paid by Developer. 

IV.5. Escrow Instructions. This Agreement constitutes the joint escrow instructions of 
the Developer and the City, and the Escrow Agent to whom these instructions are delivered is 

62



9 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

hereby empowered to act under this Agreement. The parties hereto agree to do all acts 
reasonably necessary to close this Escrow in the shortest possible time. Insurance policies for fire 
or casualty are not to be transferred, and the City will cancel its own policies after the Closing. 
All funds received in the Escrow shall be deposited with other escrow funds in a general escrow 
account(s) and may be transferred to any other such escrow trust account in any State or National 
Bank doing business in the State of California. All disbursements shall be made by check from 
such account.  

If in the opinion of either party it is necessary or convenient in order to accomplish the 
Closing, such party may require that the parties sign supplemental escrow instructions; provided 
that if there is any inconsistency between this Agreement and the supplemental escrow 
instructions, then the provisions of this Agreement shall control. The parties agree to execute 
such other and further documents as may be reasonably necessary, helpful or appropriate to 
effectuate the provisions of this Agreement. The Closing shall take place as set forth in Section 
1G. The Escrow Agent is instructed to release the City's escrow closing statement and the 
Developer's escrow closing statement to the respective parties.

IV.6.     Authority of Escrow Agent.  Escrow Agent is authorized to, and shall: 

(a)  Pay and charge the City for the premium of the Title Policy and any 
endorsements thereto as set forth in Section IV.10(i) and any amount necessary to place title in 
the condition necessary to satisfy the conditions of same. 

(b) Pay and charge the Developer and the City for their respective shares of 
any escrow fees, charges, and costs payable under Section IV.4. of this Agreement.  

(c) Disburse funds and deliver and record the Grant Deed, and the 
Affordability Covenants, when both the Developer Conditions Precedent and the City Conditions 
Precedent have been fulfilled or waived by the Developer and the City. 

(d) Do such other actions as necessary, including obtaining the Title Policy, to 
fulfill its obligations under this Agreement.

(e) Do such other actions as necessary to comply with any federal, state, or 
local reporting requirements, including directing the City and the Developer to execute any 
required forms, statements or certificates.

IV.7.  Closing. This transaction shall close escrow ("Closing") after the satisfaction of 
all of the City and Developer Conditions Precedent to Closing as set forth in Sections IV.10 and 
IV.11 of this Agreement, but in no event later than one hundred and eighty days (180) after 
Escrow is opened (the "Closing Deadline"), unless otherwise extended by written agreement of 
the parties. The Closing shall occur at a location within Kings County at a time and place 
reasonably agreed to by the parties. The Closing shall mean the time and day the Grant Deed is 
filed for record with the Kings County Recorder. The "Closing Date" shall mean the day on 
which the Closing occurs. 

63



10 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

IV.8.  Closing Procedure.  The Escrow Agent shall close Escrow for the Property as 
follows: 

(a) Record the Grant Deed with instructions for the Recorder of Kings County, 
California to deliver the Grant Deed to the Developer. 

(b) Record the Affordability Covenants (Exhibit B) with instructions for the 
Recorder of Kings County, California to deliver the Affordability Covenants to the City.

(c) Instruct the First American Title Company to deliver the Title Policy to the 
Developer and a copy of the Title Policy to the City. 

(d) File and deliver any informational reports, forms, statements, and 
certificates as required by federal, state or local law.

(e) Forward to both the Developer and the City a separate accounting of all 
funds received and disbursed for each party and copies of all executed and recorded or filed 
documents deposited into Escrow, with such recording and filing date and information endorsed 
thereon. 

IV.9.    City’s Conditions to Closing.  City’s obligation to proceed with the Closing is 
subject to satisfaction or waiver by City of all of the following conditions: 

(a) No Default.  Prior to the Closing, Developer is not in default under the 
terms of this Agreement, and all representations and warranties of Developer are true and correct 
in all material respects.

(b) Execution of Documents.  Developer has executed and acknowledged this 
Agreement, all attachments hereto, and all other documents required hereunder, and shall have 
delivered all such documents to City or into Escrow. 

(c) Payment of Funds.  Prior to the Closing, the Developer shall have 
deposited the Purchase Price and all required costs of the Closing into Escrow in accordance 
with Sections IV.2. and IV.4.

(d) Financing. The City shall have approved financing, or proof of financial 
capacity to complete the Improvements, as provided in Section VIII.1 hereof, and such financing 
shall have closed and funded or be ready to close and fund upon the Closing. 

(e) Insurance. The Developer shall have provided proof of insurance as 
required by Article XI hereof.

(f) Satisfaction of Conditions Precedent.  Developer has satisfied all other  
conditions precedent to Closing. 

64



11 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

IV.10.   Developer’s Conditions to Closing.  Developer’s obligation to proceed with the 
Closing is subject to satisfaction or waiver by Developer of the following conditions: 

(g) No Default.  City is not in Default under the terms of this Agreement, and 
all representations and warranties of City contained herein shall be true and correct in all 
material respects.

(h) Execution of Documents.  City has executed and acknowledged this 
Agreement, all attachments hereto, and all other documents required hereunder, and has 
delivered such documents into Escrow. 

(i) Developer’s Title Policy.  The Title Company shall, upon payment of the 
premium therefor by Developer, be ready to issue an Owner’s American Land Title Association
title policy for the benefit of Developer, showing title to the Property vested in Developer, 
subject only to the Permitted Exceptions and including such endorsements as Developer may 
reasonably request. The Title Policy shall be for the amount of the Purchase Price. The Title 
Company shall provide the City with a copy of the Title Policy. The Developer shall be 
responsible for the cost of providing title insurance. 

IV.11.   Termination of Escrow.  If Escrow is not in a condition to close by the Closing 
Deadline set forth in the supplemental Escrow instructions, then either party which has fully 
performed under this Agreement may, in writing, demand termination of Escrow. Under these 
circumstances, the Escrow Agent shall return all money, papers and documents deposited in 
Escrow to the respective depositing party. The City is hereby entitled to receive the Twenty-Five 
Thousand Dollar ($25,000) earnest money deposit upon any termination of escrow as liquidated 
damages. If either party makes a written demand for termination of Escrow, the Escrow shall not 
terminate until ten (10) days after the Escrow Agent shall have delivered copies of such demand 
to the other party at the address shown in this Agreement. If any objections are raised within that 
ten (10) day period, the Escrow Agent is authorized to hold all money, papers, and documents 
until instructed by a court of competent jurisdiction or by mutual written instructions of the 
parties. Termination of the Escrow shall be without prejudice as to whatever legal rights either 
party may have against the other arising from this Agreement. If no demands are made, the 
Escrow Agent shall proceed with the Closing as soon as possible. 

ARTICLE V
DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROJECT

V.1. The Property.  City represents and warrants that as of the Effective Date: (a) City 
owns a fee simple interest in the Property; and (b) the Property is subject to no covenant, 
condition, restriction or agreement that would prevent the development of the Project in 
accordance with this Agreement.  If at any time the foregoing statements become untrue, City 
shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Developer.   

V.2. Scope of Development.  Developer shall develop the Project in accordance with 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement and in compliance with the terms and conditions of 

65



12 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

all approvals, entitlements and permits that City or any other governmental body or entity with 
jurisdiction over the Project or the Property has granted or issued as of the date hereof or may 
hereafter grant or issue in connection with development of the Project, including without 
limitation, all requirements set forth in the Affordable Housing Covenants, all mitigation 
measures imposed in connection with environmental review of the Project and all conditions of 
approval imposed in connection with any entitlements, approvals or permits (all of the foregoing 
approvals, entitlements, permits, mitigation measures, and conditions of approval are hereafter 
collectively referred to as the “Conditions of Approval”).   

(a) The Project will consist of one hundred eight (108) units of affordable 
family housing rental units targeting extremely low, very low, and low-income families 
“Improvements”.   

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the 
construction of the Project is expressly conditioned upon compliance with the California 
Environmental Quality Act, California Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq., guidelines, 
and implementing regulations, all as amended from time to time (“CEQA”) and/or the National 
Environmental Protection Act of 1969, 42 U.S.C. Section 4321 et seq., guidelines, and 
implementing regulations, all as amended from time to time (“NEPA”), as the same may be 
applicable to the Project.  Necessary CEQA and NEPA studies and reports have been completed, 
all necessary NEPA approvals have been obtained, necessary notices have been filed and statute 
of limitations have expired.  No physical activity, not otherwise exempt from CEQA or NEPA, 
as applicable, shall commence on the Property without such compliance.  

V.3. Project Approvals.  Developer acknowledges and agrees that execution of this 
Agreement by City does not constitute approval for the purpose of the issuance of building 
permits for the construction of the Project, does not limit in any manner the discretion of City in 
such approval process, and does not relieve Developer from the obligation to apply for and 
obtain all necessary entitlements, approvals, and permits for the construction of the Project, 
including without limitation, the approval of architectural plans, the issuance of any certificates 
regarding historic resources required in connection with the Project (if any), and the completion 
of any required environmental review.  

(a) Developer covenants that it shall:  

(i) Obtain all necessary permits and approvals which may be required 
by City, or any other governmental City having jurisdiction over the construction of the Project 
or the development of the Property. 

(ii) Comply with all Conditions of Approval. 

(iii) Comply with all mitigation measures imposed in connection with 
any environmental review of the Project. 

(iv) Not commence construction work on the Project prior to issuance 
of building permits required for such work.  

66



13 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(b) City staff shall work cooperatively with Developer to assist in 
coordinating the expeditious processing and consideration of all permits, entitlements, and 
approvals necessary for development of the Project.    

V.4. Fees.  Developer shall be solely responsible for, and shall promptly pay when due, 
all customary and usual fees and charges of City in connection with obtaining building permits 
and other approvals for the Project, including without limitation, those related to the processing 
and consideration of amendments, if any, to the current entitlements, any related approvals and 
permits, environmental review, design review, architectural review, and any subsequent 
approvals for the Project or the development of the Property.     

V.5. Cost of Construction.  Except as expressly set forth herein, Developer shall be 
solely responsible for all direct and indirect costs and expenses incurred in connection with the 
design, development and construction of the Project and compliance with the Conditions of 
Approval, including without limitations, the installation and construction of all off-site or on-site 
improvements required by City in connection therewith. 

V.6. Rights of Access.  For the purpose of ensuring that the Project is developed in 
compliance with this Agreement, Developer shall permit representatives of City to enter upon the 
Property to inspect the Project following forty-eight (48) hours written notice.  Developer shall 
have the right to accompany any City representative performing an inspection of the Project. 

V.7. City Disclaimer.  Developer acknowledges that City has the right to monitor, 
review, supervise, or inspect the progress of construction or the operation of the Project.  
Notwithstanding such right, Developer and all third parties shall rely on its or their own 
supervision and inspection in determining the quality and suitability of the materials and work, 
the performance of architects, subcontractors, and material suppliers, and all other matters 
relating to the construction and operation of the Project.  Any review or inspection undertaken by 
City is solely for the purpose of determining whether Developer is properly discharging its 
obligations under this Agreement, and shall not be relied upon by Developer or any third party as 
a warranty or representation by City as to the quality of the design or construction of the 
Improvements or otherwise.  

V.8. Construction Plans.  Prior to commencement of Project construction, and in 
accordance with the Schedule of Performance attached hereto as Exhibit D, Developer shall 
submit to City’s Building Department detailed construction plans for the development of the 
Project (“Construction Plans”).  “Construction Plans” means all construction documents upon 
which Developer and Developer’s contractors shall rely in constructing the Project (including the 
landscaping, parking, and common areas) and shall include, without limitation, the site 
development plan, final architectural drawings, detailed construction plans, landscaping, exterior 
lighting and signage plans and specifications, materials specifications, final elevations, and 
building plans and specifications.  The Construction Plans shall be based upon the scope of 
development set forth herein and upon the approvals issued by City for the Project and shall not 
materially deviate therefrom without the express written consent of City.  Provided that the 

67



14 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Construction Plans are consistent with the requirements of this Agreement, approval of the 
Construction Plans by City staff shall be deemed approval thereof by City. 

V.9. City Review and Approval.   City shall have the right to review and reasonably 
approve the Construction Plans in its sole and reasonable discretion.  Developer acknowledges 
and agrees that City approval is required in order to satisfy City’s obligation to promote the 
sound development and redevelopment of land within the former redevelopment project area, to 
promote a high level of design which will impact the surrounding development, and to provide 
an environment for the social, economic and psychological growth and well-being of the citizens 
of the City.   

In the event that City disapproves of any portion of the Construction Plans, it shall 
state in writing the reasons for such disapproval.  Developer, upon receipt of a disapproval based 
upon powers reserved by the City hereunder, shall revise such portions and resubmit to City by 
the time established therefor in the Schedule of Performance. Developer shall not be entitled to 
any monetary damages or compensation as a result of the City’s disapproval or failure to approve 
or disapprove the Construction Plans. 

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to contrary effect, the times for 
review and action upon the Constructions Plans by City shall not be deemed to be commenced 
unless and until the corresponding submittals by Developer are complete. 

V.10. Consultation and Coordination.  City and Developer shall hold regular progress 
meetings to coordinate the preparation of, submission to, and review of the Construction Plans.  
City and Developer shall communicate and consult informally as frequently as is necessary to 
ensure that the formal submittal of any documents to City can receive prompt and thorough 
consideration.  City shall designate an employee to serve as the project manager who is response 
for the coordination of City’s activities under this Agreement and for expediting any land use 
approval and permitting process. 

V.11. Construction Pursuant to Plans.  Developer shall develop the Project in 
accordance with the approved Construction Plans, the Conditions of Approval, and all other 
permits and approvals granted by City pertaining to construction of the Project.  Developer shall 
comply with all directions, rules and regulations of any fire marshal, health officer, building 
inspector or other officer of every governmental entity having jurisdiction over the Property or 
the Project.  Each element of the work shall proceed only after procurement of each permit, 
license or other authorization that may be required for such element by any governmental entity 
having jurisdiction.  All design and construction work on the Project shall be performed by 
licensed contractors, engineers, or architects, as applicable.

V.12. Changes in Construction Plans.  If Developer desires to make any material change 
in the approved Construction Plans, Developer shall submit the proposed change in writing to 
City in accordance with its standard review process.  Approval of changes to the Construction 
Plans by City shall be deemed approved thereof by City.  Nothing in this Section is intended to 
or shall be deemed to modify City’s standard plan review procedures.  

68



15 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

V.13. Defects in Plans.  City shall not be responsible to Developer or to any third party 
for any defect in the Construction Plans or for any structural or other defect in any work done 
pursuant to the Construction Plans.  Subject to the last sentence of this Section V.13., Developer 
shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold harmless the Indemnitees from 
and against all Claims arising out of, or relating to, or alleged to arise from or relate to defects in 
the Construction Plans or defects in any work done pursuant to the Construction Plans whether 
or not any insurance policies shall have been determined to be applicable to any such Claims.  
Developer’s indemnification obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the expiration or 
earlier termination of this Agreement and the recordation of a Certificate of Completion and shall 
be assumed by any successor to Developer’s interest in this Agreement.  It is further agreed that 
City shall not waive any rights against Developer which they may have by reason of this 
indemnity and hold harmless agreement because of the acceptance by City, or Developer’s 
deposit with City of any of the insurance policies described in this Agreement.  Developer’s 
indemnification obligations pursuant to this Section shall not extend to Claims to the extent 
arising due to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Indemnitees.  Developer’s 
indemnification obligations set forth in this Section shall not apply to any Construction Plans that 
are not used by or on behalf of Developer or any entity affiliated with Developer, including 
without limitation, an entity that is under the direct control of Developer (“Controlled 
Affiliate”), or an under common control with Developer. In addition, if City uses any of the 
Construction Plans (or permits a third party to use such Construction Plans), City agrees to 
release Developer from liability for Claims arising in connection with such use except to the 
extent any such Claim arises from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Developer or 
Developer’s employees, agents, or representatives.

V.14. Schedule of Performance.  Developer shall submit all Construction Plans in 
accordance with Exhibit D under the established timeline, as it shall be deemed a material part of 
this Agreement.

V.15. Certificate of Completion for Project.  Promptly after completion of construction 
of the Project, issuance of a final Certificate of Occupancy by City and the written request of 
Developer, City will provide an instrument (“Certificate of Completion”) substantially similar 
to the Form of Certificate of Completion shown in Exhibit E attached hereto, so certifying, 
provided that at the time such certificate is requested all applicable components of the Project 
have been completed.   

(a) The Certificate of Completion shall be conclusive evidence that Developer 
has satisfied its obligations regarding the development of the Property.    

(b) At Developer’s option, the Certificate of Completion shall be recorded in 
the Official Records.  The Certificate of Completion shall not constitute evidence of compliance 
with or satisfaction of any obligation of Developer to any holder of a deed of trust or mortgage 
securing money loaned to finance the Project or any part thereof and shall not be deemed a 
notice of completion under the California Civil Code, nor shall such Certificate provide evidence 
that Developer has satisfied any obligation that survives the expiration of this Agreement, 

69



16 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

including without limitation, Developer’s obligations pursuant to the Affordable Housing 
Covenants. 

V.16. Equal Opportunity.  During the construction of the Project, there shall be no 
discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, sex, age, sexual orientation, marital 
status, pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions, medical condition (cancer related) or 
physical or mental disability, ancestry, or national origin in the hiring, firing, promoting or 
demoting of any person engaged in construction of the Project, and Developer shall direct its 
contractors and subcontractors to refrain from discrimination on such basis.  

V.17. Compliance with Laws.  In connection with development and construction of the 
Project, Developer shall comply, and shall cause its contractors to comply with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws, rules, ordinances and regulations, including without limitation, all 
applicable federal and state labor laws and standards, applicable provisions of the California 
Public Contracts Code (if any), City zoning and development standards, building, plumbing, 
mechanical and electrical codes, all other provisions of City's Municipal Code, and all applicable 
disabled and handicapped access requirements, including without limitation, applicable 
provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 12101, et seq., Government 
Code Section 4450, et seq., Government Code Section 11135, et seq., and the Unruh Civil Rights 
Act, Civil Code Section 51, et seq. and California Labor Code section 1720. Developer shall 
indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold harmless the Indemnitees from and 
against any and all Claims arising in connection with the breach of Developer’s obligations set 
forth in this Section whether or not any insurance policies shall have been determined to be 
applicable to any such Claims.  It is further agreed that City shall not waive any rights against 
Developer which they may have by reason of this indemnity and hold harmless agreement 
because of the acceptance by City, or Developer’s deposit with City of any of the insurance 
policies described in this Agreement.  Developer’s indemnification obligations set forth in this 
Section shall not apply to Claims to the extent arising from the gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of the Indemnitees.   Developer’s defense and indemnification obligations set forth 
in this Section V.17. shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement and the 
issuance of a Certificate of Completion for the Project.   

V.18. Liens and Stop Notices.  Until the expiration of the term of the Affordable 
Housing Covenants, if a claim of a lien or stop notice is given or recorded affecting the Project 
or the Property, Developer shall within thirty (30) days of such recording or service:  (a) pay and 
discharge (or cause to be paid and discharged) the same; or (b) affect the release thereof by 
recording and delivering (or causing to be recorded and delivered) to the party entitled thereto a 
surety bond in sufficient form and amount; or (c) provide other assurance satisfactory to City that 
the claim of lien or stop notice will be paid or discharged.  The provisions of this Section V.18. 
shall apply from and after Developer’s acquisition of a fee simple interest in the Property. 

V.19. Right of City to Satisfy Liens on the Property.  If Developer fails to satisfy or 
discharge any lien or stop notice on the Property pursuant to and within the time period set forth 
in Section V.18 above, City shall have the right, but not the obligation, to satisfy any such liens 
or stop notices at Developer’s expense with prior written notice to Developer.  In such event 

70



17 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Developer shall be liable for and shall immediately reimburse City for such paid lien or stop 
notice.  Alternatively, City may require Developer to immediately deposit with City the amount 
necessary to satisfy such lien or claim pending resolution thereof.  City may use such deposit to 
satisfy any claim or lien that is adversely determined against Developer.  Developer shall file a 
valid notice of cessation or notice of completion upon cessation of construction of the 
Improvements for a continuous period of thirty (30) days or more, and shall take all other 
reasonable steps to forestall the assertion of claims or liens against the Property or the 
Improvements.  City may (but has no obligation to), with prior written notice to Developer, 
record any notices of completion or cessation of labor, or any other notice that City deems 
necessary or desirable to protect its interest in the Property and the Improvements.  

V.20. Performance and Payment Bonds.  Prior to commencement of construction work 
on the Project, Developer shall cause its general contractor to deliver to City copies of payment 
bond(s) and performance bond(s) issued by a reputable insurance company licensed to do 
business in California, each in a penal sum of not less than one hundred percent (100%) of the 
scheduled cost of construction of the Project.  The bonds shall name City and Developer as co-
obligees.  In lieu of such performance and payment bonds, subject to City’s approval of the form 
and substance thereof, Developer may submit evidence satisfactory to City of the contractor’s 
ability to commence and complete construction of the Project in the form of an irrevocable letter 
of credit, pledge of cash deposit, certificate of deposit, or other marketable securities held by a 
broker or other financial institution, with signature authority of City required for any withdrawal, 
or a completion guaranty in a form and from a guarantor acceptable to City.  Such evidence must 
be submitted to City in approvable form in sufficient time to allow for City’s review and 
approval prior to the scheduled construction start date.   

V.21. Insurance Requirements.  Developer shall maintain and shall cause its contractors 
to maintain all applicable insurance coverage specified in Article XI.  

ARTICLE VI
USE OF THE PROPERTY

VI.1. Use; Affordable Housing.  Developer covenants and agrees for itself and its 
successors and assigns that the Property shall be used for the development and operation of a 
multi-family residential project, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
the Affordable Housing Covenants (Exhibit B), and City Municipal Code.  The foregoing 
covenants shall run with the land.   

VI.2. Maintenance.  Developer, at its own expense, shall maintain the Property, the 
Improvements and related landscaping and common areas in good physical condition, in good 
repair, and in decent, safe, sanitary, habitable and tenantable living conditions in conformity with 
all applicable state, federal, and local laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations.  Without limiting 
the foregoing, Developer agrees to maintain the Project and the Property (including without 
limitation, the residential units, common areas, landscaping, driveways, parking areas, and 
walkways) in a condition free of all waste, nuisance, debris, unmaintained landscaping, graffiti, 
disrepair, abandoned vehicles/appliances, and illegal activity, and shall take all reasonable steps 

71



18 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

to prevent the same from occurring on the Property or at the Project.  Developer shall prevent 
and/or rectify any physical deterioration of the Property and the Project and shall make all 
repairs, renewals and replacements necessary to keep the Property and the improvements located 
thereon in good condition and repair.  Developer shall provide adequate security for occupants of 
the Project.  The provisions of this Section VI.2. shall apply from and after Developer’s 
acquisition of the Property. 

VI.3. Taxes and Assessments.  From and after Developer’s acquisition of  the Property, 
Developer shall pay all real and personal property taxes, assessments and charges and all 
franchise, income, payroll, withholding, sales, and other taxes assessed against the Property or 
the Improvements and payable by Developer, at such times and in such manner as to prevent any 
penalty from accruing, or any lien or charge from attaching to the Property or the Improvements; 
provided, however, that Developer shall have the right to contest in good faith, any such taxes, 
assessments, or charges.  In the event Developer exercises its right to contest any tax, 
assessment, or charge, Developer, on final determination of the proceeding or contest, shall 
immediately pay or discharge any decision or judgment rendered against it, together with all 
costs, charges, and interest.  Developer shall not apply for, or receive, any exemption from the 
payment of property taxes or assessments on any interest in, or to, the Property or Improvements. 

VI.4. Obligation to Refrain from Discrimination.  From and after Developer’s 
acquisition of the Property, Developer shall not restrict the rental, sale, lease, sublease, transfer, 
use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the Property or the Improvements, or any portion thereof, 
on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, sex, sexual orientation, disability, marital status, 
ancestry, or national origin of any person.  Developer covenants for itself and all persons 
claiming under or through it, and this Agreement is made and accepted upon and subject to the 
condition that there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of any person or group of 
persons on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the 
Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, 
in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the Property or part 
thereof, nor shall Developer or any person claiming under or through Developer establish or 
permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the 
selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, sublessees or 
vendees in, of, or for the Property or the Improvements or part thereof.  The foregoing covenants 
shall run with the land and all deeds, leases, or contracts relative to the Property or the 
Improvements shall contain or be subject to nondiscrimination or non-segregation clauses in 
conformance with California Health and Safety Code Section 33435 and 33436. 

ARTICLE VII
LIMITATIONS ON CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP; MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF 

DEVELOPER

VII.1. Change Pursuant to this Agreement.  Developer and its principals have 
represented that they possess the necessary expertise, skill, and ability to carry out the 
development of the Project on the Property pursuant to this Agreement.  The qualifications, 

72



19 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

experience, financial capacity and expertise of Developer and its principals are of particular 
concern to City.  It is because of these qualifications, experience, financial capacity and expertise 
that City has entered into this Agreement with Developer.  No voluntary or involuntary 
successor, assignee or transferee of Developer shall acquire any rights or powers under this 
Agreement, except as expressly provided herein. 

VII.2. Prohibition on Transfer.  Prior to the expiration of the term of the Affordable 
Housing Covenants, Developer shall not, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement, 
directly or indirectly voluntarily, involuntarily, or by operation of law make or attempt any total 
or partial sale, transfer, conveyance, assignment, or lease (collectively “Transfer”) of the whole 
or any part of Developer’s interest in the Property, the Project, the Improvements, or this 
Agreement, without the prior written approval of City, which approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld.  (The provisions concerning Transfer of the Property, the Project and the 
Improvements shall apply commencing upon Developer’s acquisition of a fee simple interest in 
the Property.)  Any such attempt to assign this Agreement without City’s consent shall be null 
and void and shall confer no rights or privileges upon the purported assignee.  In addition to the 
foregoing, prior to the expiration of the term of the Affordable Housing Covenants, except as 
expressly permitted by this Agreement, Developer shall not undergo any significant change of 
ownership without the prior written approval of City.  For purposes of this Agreement, a 
“significant change of ownership” shall mean a transfer of the beneficial interest of more than 
twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate of the present ownership and/or control of Developer, 
taking all transfers into account on a cumulative basis; provided however, neither the admission 
of an investor limited partner, nor the transfer by the investor limited partner to subsequent 
limited partners shall be restricted by this provision.

VII.3. Permitted Transfers.  Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, the 
prohibitions set forth in this Article shall not be deemed to prevent any of the following:  

(a) The granting of easements or permits to facilitate development of the 
Property.  

(b) The lease of individual residences to tenants for occupancy as their 
principal residence in accordance with the Affordable Housing Covenants.  

(c) Assignments creating security interests for the purpose of financing the 
acquisition, construction or permanent financing of the Project or the Property, or Transfers 
directly resulting from the foreclosure of, or granting of a deed in lieu of foreclosure of, such a 
security interest.  

(d) A Transfer to a Controlled Affiliate.

VII.4.  Requirements for Proposed Transfers.  City may, in the exercise of its sole 
discretion, consent to a proposed Transfer of this Agreement, the Improvements, the Property or 
portion thereof if all of the following requirements are met (provided however, the requirements 

73



20 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

of this Section VII.4. shall not apply to Transfers described in clauses (a) through (d) of Section 
VII.3.):

(a) The proposed transferee demonstrates to City’s satisfaction that it has the 
qualifications, experience and financial resources necessary and adequate as may be reasonably 
determined by City to competently complete construction of the Project and to otherwise fulfill 
the obligations undertaken by Developer under this Agreement. 

(b) Developer and the proposed transferee shall submit for City review and 
approval all instruments and other legal documents proposed to affect any Transfer of this 
Agreement, the Improvements, the Property or interest therein together with such documentation 
of the proposed transferee’s qualifications and development capacity as City may reasonably 
request.

(c) The proposed transferee shall expressly assume all of the rights and 
obligations of Developer under this Agreement and arising after the effective date of the Transfer 
and all obligations of Developer arising prior to the effective date of the Transfer (unless 
Developer expressly remains responsible for such obligations) and shall agree to be subject to 
and assume all of Developer’s obligations pursuant to the Conditions of Approval and all other 
conditions, and restrictions set forth in this Agreement and the Affordable Housing Covenants.  

(d) The Transfer shall be effectuated pursuant to a written instrument 
satisfactory to City in form recordable in the Official Records.

(e) Consent to any proposed Transfer may be given by the City Manager 
unless the City Manager, in his or her discretion, refers the matter of approval to the City 
Council.  If a proposed Transfer has not been approved by City in writing within thirty (30) days 
following City’s receipt of written request by Developer, it shall be deemed rejected.   

VII.5. Effect of Transfer without City Consent. 

(a) In the absence of specific written agreement by City, no Transfer by 
Developer shall be deemed to relieve Developer or any other party from any obligation under 
this Agreement.

(b) Without limiting any other remedy City may have under this Agreement, 
or under law or equity, it shall be an Event of Developer Default (as defined under Section X.1.) 
hereunder entitling City to terminate this Agreement if without the prior written approval of City, 
Developer assigns or Transfers this Agreement, the Improvements, or the Property prior to City’s 
issuance of a Certificate of Completion.  This Section VII.5.(b) shall not apply to Transfers 
described in clauses (a) through (d) of Section VII.3.   

VII.6. Recovery of City Costs.  Developer shall reimburse City for all City costs, 
including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in reviewing instruments and 
other legal documents proposed to affect a Transfer under this Agreement and in reviewing the 

74



21 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

qualifications and financial resources of a proposed successor, assignee, or transferee within ten 
(10) days following City’s delivery to Developer of an invoice detailing such costs.   

ARTICLE VIII
SECURITY FINANCING AND RIGHTS OF MORTGAGEES

VIII.1.Approval of Financing. As required herein and as a City Condition Precedent to the 
Closing, the Developer shall submit to City evidence that the Developer has obtained sufficient 
equity capital or is in pursuit of grant funds and tax credits to obtain 100% of construction and 
permanent financing necessary to undertake the development of the Property and the construction 
of the Developer Improvements in accordance with this Agreement.  The City shall approve or 
disapprove such evidence of financing commitments within thirty (30) days of receipt of a 
complete submission.  Approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or conditioned.  If the City 
shall disapprove any such evidence of financing, the City shall do so by Notice to Developer stating 
the reasons for such disapproval and the Developer shall promptly obtain and submit to City new 
evidence of financing.  City shall approve or disapprove such new evidence of financing in the 
same manner and within the same times established in this Section VIII.1. for the approval or 
disapproval of the evidence of financing as initially submitted to the City.  The Developer shall 
close the approved construction financing according to Exhibit D “Development Schedule”. 

Such evidence of financing shall include the following: (a) a copy of a legally binding, 
firm and enforceable loan commitment(s) obtained by the Developer from one or more financial 
institutions for the mortgage loan or loans for financing to fund the construction, completion, 
operation and maintenance of the Developer Improvements, subject to such lenders' reasonable, 
customary and normal conditions and terms; and/or (b) a certification from the chief financial 
officer of the Developer that the Developer is in pursuit of or has applied for commitments of 
funding issued by government agencies thereby intended to be used for development of the 
project that are sufficient for such construction, and that such funds will be committed to such 
construction, and/or other documentation satisfactory to the City as evidence of other sources of 
capital sufficient to demonstrate that the Developer has applied for adequate funds to cover the 
difference between the total cost of the construction and completion of the Developer 
Improvements, less financing authorized by those loans set forth in subparagraph (a) above. 

VIII.2.Mortgages and Deeds of Trust for Development.   

(a) Mortgages and deeds of trust, or any other reasonable security instrument 
are permitted to be placed upon the Property or the Improvements only for the purpose of 
securing loans for the purpose of the design and construction of the Improvements, and other 
expenditures reasonably necessary for development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement.  
As used herein, the terms “mortgage” and “deed of trust” shall mean any security instrument 
used in financing real estate acquisition, construction, and land development.  

75



22 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(b) Affordability Covenants to be Senior to Mortgages.  Subject to the 
requirements under Health and Safety Code Section 33334.14(a)(4), City will not withhold 
consent to reasonable requests for subordination of the Affordable Housing Covenants to deeds 
of trust provided for the benefit of tax credit equity partners identified by Developer, provided 
that the instruments effecting such subordination include reasonable protections to City in the 
event of default consistent with the requirements of Health and Safety Code Section 
33334.14(a)(4).    

VIII.3.Holder Not Obligated to Construct.  The holder of any mortgage, deed of trust 
authorized by this Agreement shall not be obligated to complete construction of the 
Improvements or to guarantee such completion.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to 
permit or authorize any such holder to devote the Property or any portion thereof to any uses, or 
to construct any improvements thereon, other than those uses or improvements provided for or 
authorized by this Agreement. 

VIII.4.Notice of Default and Right to Cure.  Whenever City delivers any notice of 
default hereunder, City shall concurrently deliver a copy of such notice to each holder of record 
of any mortgage or deed of trust secured by the Property or the Improvements, provided that City 
has been provided with the address for delivery of such notice.  City shall have no liability to any 
such holder for any failure by City to provide such notice to such holder.  Each such holder shall 
have the right, but not the obligation, at its option, to cure or remedy any such default or breach 
within the cure period provided to Developer extended by an additional sixty (60) days.  In the 
event that possession of the Property or the Improvements (or any portion thereof) is required to 
effectuate such cure or remedy, the holder shall be deemed to have timely cured or remedied the 
default if it commences the proceedings necessary to obtain possession of the Property or 
Improvements, as applicable, within sixty (60) days after receipt of City’s notice, diligently 
pursues such proceedings to completion, and after obtaining possession, diligently completes 
such cure or remedy.  A holder who chooses to exercise its right to cure or remedy a default or 
breach shall first notify City of its intent to exercise such right prior to commencing to cure or 
remedy such default or breach.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to permit 
or authorize such holder to undertake or continue the construction of the Project (beyond the 
extent necessary to conserve or protect the same) without first having expressly assumed in 
writing Developer’s obligations to City under this Agreement.  The holder in that event must 
agree to complete, in the manner provided in this Agreement, the Project and the Improvements 
and submit evidence reasonably satisfactory to City that it has the development capability on 
staff or retainer and the financial capacity necessary to perform such obligations.  Any such 
holder properly completing the Project pursuant to this Section shall assume all rights and 
obligations of Developer under this Agreement and shall be entitled to a Certificate of 
Completion upon compliance with the requirements of this Agreement.    

VIII.5.   In any case where, thirty (30) days after the holder of any mortgage or deed of 
trust creating a lien or encumbrance upon the Property or any part thereof receives a notice from 
City of a default by the Developer in completion of construction of any of the Improvements 
under this Agreement, and such holder has not exercised the option to construct as set forth in 
this Article VIII, or if it has exercised the option but has defaulted hereunder and failed to timely 

76



23 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

cure such default, the City may purchase the mortgage or deed of trust by payment to the holder 
of the amount of the unpaid mortgage or deed of trust debt, including principal and interest and 
all other sums secured by the mortgage or deed of trust.  If the ownership of the Property or any 
part thereof has vested in the holder, the City, if it so desires, shall be entitled to a conveyance 
from the holder to the City of all or a portion of the Property, as applicable, upon payment to the 
holder of an amount equal to the sum of the following: 

(a) The unpaid mortgage or deed of trust debt at the time title became vested 
in the holder (less all appropriate credits, including those resulting from collection and 
application of rentals and other income received during foreclosure proceedings); 

(b) All expenses with respect to foreclosure including reasonable attorneys' 
fees;

(c) The costs of any improvements made by such holder; 

(d) An amount equivalent to the interest that would have accrued on the 
aggregate of such amounts had all such amounts become part of the mortgage or deed of trust 
debt and such debt had continued in existence to the date of payment by the City; and 

(e) Any customary prepayment charges imposed by the lender pursuant to its 
loan documents and agreed to by the Developer. 

VIII.6.City Right to Cure Defaults.  In the event of a breach or default by Developer 
under a mortgage or deed of trust secured by the Property or the Improvements, City may, but 
shall not be obligated to, cure the default, without acceleration of the subject loan, following 
prior notice thereof to the holder of such instrument and Developer.  In such event, Developer 
shall be liable for, and City shall be entitled to reimbursement from Developer for all costs and 
expenses incurred by City associated with and attributable to the curing of the default or breach 
and such sum.  The City shall also be entitled to a lien upon the Property to the extent of such 
costs and disbursements. Any such lien shall be junior and subordinate to the mortgages or deeds 
of trust pursuant to this Article VIII.

VIII.7.Holder to be Notified.  Developer agrees to use best efforts to ensure that each 
term contained herein dealing with security financing and rights of holders shall be either 
inserted into the relevant deed of trust or mortgage or acknowledged by the holder prior to it 
creating any security right or interest in the Property or the Improvements. 

VIII.8.Modifications to Agreement.  City shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to 
modifications of this Agreement requested by Project lenders or investors provided such 
modifications do not alter City’s substantive rights and obligations under this Agreement. 

VIII.9.Estoppel Certificates.  Either Party shall, at any time, and from time to time, 
within fifteen (15) days after receipt of written request from the other Party, execute and deliver 
to such Party a written statement certifying that, to the knowledge of the certifying Party:   

77



24 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(a) This Agreement is in full force and effect and a binding obligation of the 
Parties (if such be the case), 

(b) This Agreement has not been amended or modified, or if so amended, 
identifying the amendments, and  

(c) The requesting Party is not in default in the performance of its obligations 
under this Agreement, or if in default, describing the nature of any such defaults. 

ARTICLE IX
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

IX.1. Disclosure.   The City and the Developer hereby represent and warrant to the 
other that they have no actual knowledge, and have not received any notice or communication 
from any government agency having jurisdiction over the Property, notifying such party of the 
presence of surface or subsurface zone Hazardous Materials in, on, or under the Property, or any 
portion thereof. "Actual knowledge," as used herein, shall not impose a duty of investigation, and 
shall be limited to the actual knowledge of the City and the Developer employees and agents 
who have participated in the preparation of this Agreement. 

IX.2. No Further Warranties As To Property; Release of City.   Notwithstanding any 
provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, the conveyance of all or any portion of the Property 
shall be conveyed to the Developer in an "AS IS" condition, with no warranty, express or 
implied by the City, as to the condition of improvements on the Property, the soil, its geology, 
the presence of known or unknown faults or Hazardous Materials, and the Developer agrees to 
and shall indemnify and hold the City, and their officers, agents, employees, and volunteers, 
harmless from and against all liability, loss, damages, costs, or expenses (including reasonable 
attorneys' fees and court costs) arising from or as a result of the existence of such faults or 
substances.  It shall be the sole responsibility of the Developer at its expense to investigate and 
determine the soil and improvement conditions on the Property for the development to be 
constructed.  If the soil environmental condition is not in all respects entirely suitable for the use 
or uses to which the Property will be put, then it is the sole responsibility and obligation of the 
Developer to take such action as may be necessary to place the soil conditions of the Property in 
a condition entirely suitable for its development.   

IX.3. No City Liability; Developer’s Covenants.  Upon receipt of any notice regarding 
the presence, release, or discharge of Hazardous Materials (as defined in Section IX.5. below) in, 
on or under the Improvements, the Property, or any portion thereof, Developer agrees to timely 
initiate and diligently pursue and complete all appropriate response, remediation and removal 
actions for the presence, release or discharge of such Hazardous Materials within such deadlines 
as specified by applicable Environmental Laws (as defined in Section IX.6. below).  Developer 
hereby covenants and agrees that commencing upon Developer’s acquisition of the Property: 

78



25 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(a) Developer shall not knowingly permit the Project or the Property or any 
portion of either to be a site for the use, generation, treatment, manufacture, storage, disposal or 
transportation of Hazardous Materials or otherwise knowingly permit the presence or release of 
Hazardous Materials in, on, under, about or from the Project or the Property with the exception 
of cleaning supplies and other materials customarily used in construction, operation or 
maintenance of residential property and any commercial uses developed as part of the Project, 
and used, stored and disposed of in compliance with Hazardous Materials laws, and   

(b) Developer shall keep and maintain the Project and the Property and each 
portion thereof in compliance with and shall not cause or permit the Project or the Property or 
any portion of either to be in violation of, any Hazardous Materials laws.  

IX.4. Environmental Indemnification and Release.   

(a) Subject to the last sentence of this Section, Developer hereby waives, 
releases, and discharges forever, and shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) 
and hold harmless, the Indemnitees from and against any and all Claims including without 
limitation any Claims arising out of or in any way connected with the condition of the Property.  
Developer’s obligations under this Section IX.4. expressly include any expenses associated with 
the investigation, assessment, monitoring, response, removal, treatment, abatement or 
remediation of Hazardous Materials and administrative, enforcement or judicial proceedings 
resulting, arising, or based directly or indirectly in whole or in part, upon:  

(i) The presence, release, use, generation, discharge, storage or 
disposal or the alleged presence, release, discharge, storage or disposal of any Hazardous 
Materials on, under, in or about, or the transportation of any such Hazardous Materials to or 
from, the Property, or  

(ii) The failure of Developer, Developer’s employees, agents, 
contractors, subcontractors, or any person acting on behalf of any of the foregoing to comply 
with Hazardous Materials Laws or the covenants set forth in Section IX.2.  

(b) The foregoing indemnity shall further apply to any residual contamination 
in, on, under or about the Property or affecting any natural resources, and to any contamination 
of any property or natural resources arising in connection with the generation, use, handling, 
treatment, storage, transport or disposal of any such Hazardous Materials, and irrespective of 
whether any of such activities were or will be undertaken in accordance with Hazardous 
Materials Laws.  The provisions of this Section IX.4. shall survive the issuance of a Certificate 
of Completion for the Project and the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.  
Developer’s indemnification obligations set forth in this Section shall also apply to Claims 
arising directly or indirectly as a result of the actions or omissions of Developer or Developer’s 
employees, agents, contractors, subcontractors, or any person acting on behalf of any of the 
foregoing relating to activity on the Property prior to Developer’s acquisition of the Property, 

79



26 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(c) General Release.    The Developer acknowledges that it is aware of and 
familiar with the provisions of Section 1542 of the California Civil Code which provides as 
follows: 

“A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know 
or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which if known by 
him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.”

As such relates to this Section IX.4., the Developer hereby waives and relinquishes 
all rights and benefits which it may have under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code. 

AMG & Associates., a California corporation 

      By:       
Name:
Title:

(d) No Limitation.  Developer hereby acknowledges and agrees that 
Developer’s duties, obligations and liabilities under this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, under this Article IX, are in no way limited or otherwise affected by any information 
City may have concerning the Property and/or the presence in, on, under or about the Property of 
any Hazardous Materials, whether City obtained such information from Developer or from its 
own investigations.  It is further agreed that City does not and shall not waive any rights against 
Developer that they may have by reason of this indemnity and hold harmless agreement because 
of the acceptance by City, or the deposit with City by Developer, of any of the insurance policies 
described in this Agreement. 

IX.5. Hazardous Materials.  As used herein, the term “Hazardous Materials” means any 
substance, material or waste which is or becomes regulated by any federal, state or local 
governmental authority, and includes without limitation: 

(a) Petroleum or oil or gas or any direct or indirect product or by-product 
thereof; (ii) asbestos and any material containing asbestos;  

(b) Any substance, material or waste regulated by or listed (directly or by 
reference) as a “hazardous substance”, “hazardous material”, “hazardous waste”, “toxic waste”, 
“toxic pollutant”, “toxic substance”, “solid waste” or “pollutant or contaminant” in or pursuant 
to, or similarly identified as hazardous to human health or the environment in or pursuant to, the 
Toxic Substances Control Act [15 U.S.C. Section 2601, et seq.]; the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act [42 U.S.C. Section 9601, et seq.], the 
Hazardous Materials Transportation Authorization Act [49 U.S.C. Section 5101, et seq.], the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act [42 U.S.C. Section 6901, et seq.], the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act [33 U.S.C. Section 1251], the Clean Air Act [42 U.S.C. Section 7401, et 
seq.], the California Underground Storage of Hazardous Substances Act [California Health and 

80



27 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Safety Code Section 25280, et seq.], the California Hazardous Substances Account Act 
[California Health and Safety Code Section 25300, et seq.], the California Hazardous Waste Act 
[California Health and Safety Code Section 25100, et seq.], the California Safe Drinking Water 
and Toxic Enforcement Act [California Health and Safety Code Section 25249.5, et seq.], and 
the Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act [California Water Code Section 13000, et seq.], as 
they now exist or are hereafter amended, together with any regulations promulgated thereunder;  

(c) Any substance, material or waste which is defined as such or regulated by 
any “Superfund” or “Superlien” law, or any Environmental Law; or  

(d) Any other substance, material, chemical, waste, or pollutant identified as 
hazardous or toxic and regulated under any other federal, state or local environmental law, 
including without limitation, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum, natural gas and 
synthetic fuel products and by-products. 

IX.6. Environmental Laws.  As used herein, the term “Environmental Laws” means all 
federal, state, or local statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders, decrees, judgments or 
common law doctrines, and provisions and conditions of permits, licenses and other operating 
authorizations regulating, or relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning 
any of the following:  

(a) Pollution or protection of the environment, including natural resources.  

(b) Exposure of persons, including employees and agents, to Hazardous 
Materials (as defined above) or other products, raw materials, chemicals or other substances.  

(c) Protection of the public health or welfare from the effects of by-products, 
wastes, emissions, discharges or releases of chemical substances from industrial or commercial 
activities.  

(d) The manufacture, use or introduction into commerce of chemical 
substances, including without limitation, their manufacture, formulation, labeling, distribution, 
transportation, handling, storage and disposal.  

(e) The use, release or disposal of toxic or hazardous substances or Hazardous 
Materials or the remediation of air, surface waters, groundwaters or soil, as now or may at any 
later time be in effect, including but not limited to the Toxic Substances Control Act [15 U.S.C. 
Section 2601, et seq.], the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability 
Act [42 U.S.C. Section 9601, et seq.], the Hazardous Materials Transportation Authorization Act 
[49 U.S.C. Section 5101, et seq.], the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act [42 U.S.C. 
Section 6901, et seq.], the Federal Water Pollution Control Act [33 U.S.C. Section 1251], the 
Clean Air Act [42 U.S.C. Section 7401, et seq.], the California Underground Storage of 
Hazardous Substances Act [California Health and Safety Code Section 25280, et seq.], the 
California Hazardous Substances Account Act [California Health and Safety Code Section 
25300, et seq.], the California Hazardous Waste Act [California Health and Safety Code Section 
25100, et seq.], the California Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act [California 

81



28 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Health and Safety Code Section 25249.5, et seq.], and the Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control 
Act [California Water Code Section 13000, et seq.], as each of the foregoing now exist or are 
hereafter amended, together with any regulations promulgated thereunder. 

ARTICLE X
DEFAULTS, REMEDIES AND TERMINATION

X.1. Event of Developer Default.  The following events shall constitute an event of 
default on the part of Developer (“Event of Developer Default”):

(a) Subject to force majeure, the availability of financing and City’s issuance 
of permits and approvals, Developer fails to commence or complete construction of the Project 
within the times set forth in the Development Schedule shown in Exhibit D, or subject to force 
majeure, abandons or suspends construction of the Project prior to completion for a period of 
sixty (60) days or more. 

(b) A Transfer occurs, either voluntarily or involuntarily, in violation of 
Article VIII.  

(c) Developer fails to maintain insurance as required pursuant to this 
Agreement, and Developer fails to cure such default within ten (10) days. 

(d) Subject to Developer’s right to contest the following charges pursuant to 
Section VI.3, if Developer fails to pay prior to delinquency taxes or assessments due on the 
Property or the Project, or fails to pay when due any other charge that may result in a lien on the 
Property or the Project, and Developer fails to cure such default within thirty (30) days of date of 
delinquency, but in all events upon the imposition of any such tax or other lien. 

(e) Following Developer’s acquisition of the Property, a default arises under 
any loan secured by a mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument recorded against the 
Property, the Improvements, or Developer’s interest therein, and remains uncured beyond any 
applicable cure period such that the holder of such security instrument has the right to accelerate 
repayment of such loan. 

(f) Any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any 
application, financial statement, certificate or report submitted to City in connection with this 
Agreement proves to have been incorrect in any material and adverse respect when made and 
continues to be materially adverse to City and Developer fails to cure such default within sixty 
(60) days after the date upon which City shall have given written notice of the default to 
Developer. 

(g) If, pursuant to, or within the meaning of, the United States Bankruptcy 
Code or any other federal or state law relating to insolvency or relief of debtors (“Bankruptcy 
Law”), Developer does any of the following: 

82



29 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(i) Commences a voluntary case or proceeding.  

(ii) Consents to the entry of an order for relief against Developer or 
any general partner thereof in an involuntary case.  

(iii) Consents to the appointment of a trustee, receiver, assignee, 
liquidator or similar official for Developer or any general partner thereof.  

(iv) Makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors.  

(v) Admits in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due. 

(h) A court of competent jurisdiction shall have made or entered any decree or 
order (1) adjudging Developer to be bankrupt or insolvent; (2) approving as properly filed a 
petition seeking reorganization of Developer or seeking any arrangement for Developer under 
bankruptcy law or any other applicable debtor's relief law or statute of the United States or any 
state or other jurisdiction; (3) appointing a receiver, trustee, liquidator, or assignee of Developer 
in bankruptcy or insolvency or for any of its properties; or (4) directing the winding up or 
liquidation of Developer. 

(i) Developer shall have assigned its assets for the benefit of its creditors 
(other than pursuant to a mortgage loan) or suffered a sequestration or attachment of or execution 
on any substantial part of its property, unless the property so assigned, sequestered, attached or 
executed upon shall have been returned or released within sixty (60) days after such event 
(unless a lesser time period is permitted for cure under any other mortgage on the Property or the 
Improvements, in which event such lesser time period shall apply under this subsection as well) 
or prior to any sooner sale pursuant to such sequestration, attachment, or execution. 

(j) Developer shall have voluntarily suspended its business or Developer shall 
have been dissolved or terminated. 

(k) An event of default arises under any City document and remains uncured 
beyond any applicable cure period. 

(l) Developer defaults in the performance of any term, provision, covenant or 
agreement contained in this Agreement, and unless a shorter cure period is specified for such 
default, the default continues for ten (10) days in the event of a monetary default or sixty (60) 
days in the event of a nonmonetary default after the date upon which City shall have given 
written notice of the default to Developer; provided however, if the default is of a nature that it 
cannot be cured within sixty (60) days, an Event of Developer Default shall not arise hereunder 
if Developer commences to cure the default within sixty (60) days and thereafter prosecutes the 
curing of such default with due diligence and in good faith to completion and in no event later 
than one hundred twenty (120) days after receipt of notice of the default. 

X.2. City Default.  An event of default on the part of City (“Event of City Default”) 
shall arise hereunder if City fails to keep, observe, or perform any of its covenants, duties, or 

83



30 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

obligations under this Agreement, and the default continues for a period of thirty (30) days after 
written notice thereof from Developer to City, or in the case of a default which cannot with due 
diligence be cured within thirty (30) days, City fails to commence to cure the default within 
thirty (30) days of such notice and thereafter fails to prosecute the curing of such default with 
due diligence and in good faith to completion.   

X.3. City’s Right to Terminate Agreement.  If an Event of Developer Default shall 
occur and be continuing beyond any applicable cure period, then City shall, in addition to other 
rights available to it under law or this Agreement, have the right to terminate this Agreement.  If 
City makes such election, City shall give written notice to Developer and to any mortgagee 
entitled to such notice specifying the nature of the default and stating that this Agreement shall 
expire and terminate on the date specified in such notice, and upon the date specified in the 
notice, this Agreement and all rights of Developer under this Agreement, shall expire and 
terminate. 

X.4. City’s Remedies and Rights Upon an Event of Developer Default.  Upon the 
occurrence of an Event of Developer Default and the expiration of any applicable cure period, 
City shall have all remedies available to it under this Agreement or under law or equity, 
including, but not limited to the following, and City may, at its election, terminate this 
Agreement.

X.5. Developer’s Remedies Upon an Event of City Default.  Upon the occurrence of an 
Event of City Default, in addition to pursuing any other remedy allowed at law or in equity or 
otherwise provided in this Agreement, Developer may bring an action for equitable relief seeking 
the specific performance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and/or enjoining, 
abating, or preventing any violation of such terms and conditions, and/or seeking to obtain any 
other remedy consistent with the purpose of this Agreement. 

X.6. Remedies Cumulative; No Consequential Damages.  Except as otherwise 
expressly stated in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the Parties are cumulative, and the 
exercise by either Party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not preclude the exercise 
by it, at the same or different time, of any other rights or remedies for the same or any other 
default by the other Party. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, a Party’s 
right to recover damages in the event of a default shall be limited to actual damages and shall 
exclude consequential damages.  

X.7. Inaction Not a Waiver of Default.  No failure or delay by either Party in asserting 
any of its rights and remedies as to any default shall operate as a waiver of such default or of any 
such rights or remedies, nor deprive either Party of its rights to institute and maintain any action 
or proceeding which it may deem necessary to protect, assert or enforce any such rights or 
remedies in the same or any subsequent default. 

ARTICLE XI
INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

84



31 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

XI.1. Indemnity.  Developer shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) 
and hold Indemnitees, except third party contractors and consultants, harmless from and against 
any and all Claims, including without limitation, Claims arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, as a result of or in connection with Developer’s or Developer’s contractors, 
subcontractors, agents or employees development, construction, improvement, operation, 
ownership or maintenance of the Project or the Property, or any part thereof or otherwise arising 
out of or in connection with Developer’s performance under this Agreement.  Developer’s 
indemnification obligations under this Section XI.1 shall not extend to Claims resulting solely
from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of, or to any breach of a warranty or 
representation of this Agreement by, one or more Indemnitees.  The provisions of this Section 
XI.1 shall survive the issuance of a Certificate of Completion for the Project and the expiration 
or earlier termination of this Agreement.  It is further agreed that City will not and shall not 
waive any rights against Developer that they may have by reason of this indemnity and hold 
harmless agreement because of the acceptance by City, or the deposit with City by Developer, of 
any of the insurance policies described in this Agreement. 

XI.2. Liability and Workers’ Compensation Insurance. 

(a) Prior to initiating work on the Project and continuing through the issuance 
of the Certificate of Completion, Developer and all contractors working on behalf of Developer 
on the Project shall maintain a commercial general liability policy in the amount of One Million 
Dollars ($1,000,000.00) each occurrence, Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) annual 
aggregate, together with Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000.00) excess liability coverage, or such 
other policy limits as City may require in its reasonable discretion, including coverage for bodily 
injury, property damage, environmental liability, products, completed operations and contractual 
liability coverage.  Such policy or policies shall be written on an occurrence basis and shall name 
the Indemnitees as additional insureds.   

(b) Until issuance of the Certificate of Completion, Developer and all 
contractors working on behalf of Developer shall maintain a comprehensive automobile liability 
coverage in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00), combined single limit including 
coverage for owned and non-owned vehicles and shall furnish or cause to be furnished to City 
evidence satisfactory to City that Developer and any contractor with whom Developer has 
contracted for the performance of work on the Property or otherwise pursuant to this Agreement 
carries workers’ compensation insurance as required by law.  Automobile liability policies shall 
name the Indemnitees as additional insureds. 

(c) Upon commencement of construction work and continuing until issuance 
of a Certificate of Completion, Developer and all contractors working on behalf of Developer 
shall maintain a policy of builder's all-risk insurance in an amount not less than the full insurable 
cost of the Project on a replacement cost basis naming City as loss payee.  Such insurance shall 
include coverage for risks of direct physical loss or damage, excluding the perils of earthquake, 
flood, and earth movement. 

85



32 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(d) Upon completion of construction, Developer shall maintain property 
insurance covering all risks of loss (other than earthquake and flood) for one hundred percent 
(100%) of the replacement value of the Project with deductible, if any, in an amount acceptable 
to City, naming City as loss payee. 

(e) Companies writing the insurance required hereunder shall be licensed to 
do business in the State of California.  Insurance shall be placed with insurers with a current 
A.M. Best's rating of no less than A: VII.  The Commercial General Liability and comprehensive 
automobile policies required hereunder shall name the Indemnitees as additional insureds.  
Builder’s Risk and property insurance shall name City as loss payees as their interests may 
appear.  

(f) Prior to commencement of construction work, Developer shall furnish 
City with certificates of insurance in form acceptable to City evidencing the required insurance 
coverage and duly executed endorsements evidencing such additional insured status.  The 
certificates shall contain a statement of obligation on the part of the carrier to notify City of any 
material adverse change, cancellation, termination or non-renewal of the coverage at least thirty 
(30) days in advance of the effective date of any such material adverse change, cancellation, 
termination or non-renewal. 

(g) If any insurance policy or coverage required hereunder is canceled or 
reduced, Developer shall, within twenty-one (21) days after receipt of notice of such cancellation 
or reduction in coverage, but in no event later than the effective date of cancellation or reduction, 
file with City a certificate showing that the required insurance has been reinstated or provided 
through another insurance company or companies.  Upon failure to file such certificate, City 
may, without further notice and at its option, procure such insurance coverage at Developer’s 
expense, and Developer shall promptly reimburse City for such expense upon receipt of billing 
from City.

(h) Coverage provided by Developer shall be primary insurance and shall not 
be contributing with any insurance, or self-insurance maintained by City, and the policies shall 
so provide.  The insurance policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation for the benefit of City.  
Developer shall furnish the required certificates and endorsements to City prior to the 
commencement of construction of the Project, and shall provide City with certified copies of the 
required insurance policies upon request of City. 

ARTICLE XII
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

XII.1. No Brokers.  Each Party warrants and represents to the other that no person or 
entity can properly claim a right to a real estate commission, brokerage fee, finder’s fee, or other 
compensation with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  Each Party 
agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the other Party from any claims, expenses, costs 
or liabilities arising in connection with a breach of this warranty and representation.  The terms 
of this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.  

86



33 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

XII.2. Enforced Delay; Extension of Times of Performance.  Subject to the limitations 
set forth below, performance by either Party shall not be deemed to be in default, and all 
performance and other dates specified in this Agreement shall be extended where delays are due 
to: war, insurrection, strikes, lockouts, riots, floods, earthquakes, fires, casualties, acts of God, 
acts of the public enemy, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, freight embargoes, governmental 
restrictions or priority, litigation, including court delays, unusually severe weather, acts or 
omissions of the other Party, acts or failures to act of City or any other public or governmental 
City or entity (other than the acts or failures to act of City which shall not excuse performance by 
City), or any other cause beyond the affected Party’s reasonable control.   

(a) An extension of time for any such cause shall be for the period of the 
enforced delay and shall commence to run from the time of the commencement of the cause, if 
notice by the Party claiming such extension is sent to the other Party within thirty (30) days of 
the commencement of the cause and such extension is not rejected in writing by the other Party 
within ten (10) days of receipt of the notice.  Neither Party shall unreasonably withhold consent 
to an extension of time pursuant to this Section. 

(b) Times of performance under this Agreement may also be extended in 
writing by the mutual agreement of Developer and City (acting in the discretion of its City 
Manager unless he or she determines in his or her discretion to refer such matter to the governing 
board of City).  City and Developer acknowledge that adverse changes in economic conditions, 
either of the affected Party specifically or the economy generally, changes in market conditions 
or demand, and/or inability to obtain financing to complete the work of Improvements shall not 
constitute grounds of enforced delay pursuant to this Section.  Each Party expressly assumes the 
risk of such adverse economic or market changes and/or financial inability, whether or not 
foreseeable as of the Effective Date.

XII.3. Notices.  Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, all notices to be sent 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in writing, and sent to the Parties at their respective 
addresses specified below or to such other address as a Party may designate by written notice 
delivered to the other Parties in accordance with this Section.   

(a) All such notices shall be sent by: 

(i) Personal delivery, in which case notice is effective upon delivery;  

(ii) Certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, in which case 
notice shall be deemed delivered on receipt if delivery is confirmed by a return receipt; 

(iii) Nationally recognized overnight courier, with charges prepaid or 
charged to the sender’s account, in which case notice is effective on delivery if delivery is 
confirmed by the delivery service; 

(iv) Email transmission, in which case notice shall be deemed delivered 
upon transmittal.

87



34 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

(b) All such notices shall be sent to: 

City
City of Lemoore  
711 W. Cinnamon Drive 
Lemoore, CA 93245 
Attention:  Nathan Olson, City Manager 
Phone: (559) 924 - 6744 
Email: nolson@lemoore.com 

Developer
AMG & Associates, Inc.
PO Box 260770 
Encino, CA 91316 
Attn:  Cameron Johnson 
Phone: (818) 825 - 5488 
Email: cjohnson@amgland.com 

XII.4. Attorneys’ Fees.  If either Party fails to perform any of its obligations under this 
Agreement, or if any dispute arises between the Parties concerning the meaning or interpretation 
of any provision hereof, then the prevailing Party in any proceeding in connection with such 
dispute shall be entitled to the costs and expenses it incurs on account thereof and in enforcing or 
establishing its rights hereunder, including, without limitation, court costs and reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and disbursements.   

XII.5. Waivers; Modification.  No waiver of any breach of any covenant or provision of 
this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any other covenant or provision hereof, and no 
waiver shall be valid unless in writing and executed by the waiving Party.  An extension of time 
for performance of any obligation or act shall not be deemed an extension of the time for 
performance of any other obligation or act, and no extension shall be valid unless in writing and 
executed by the Party granting the extension.  This Agreement may be amended or modified only 
by a written instrument executed by the Parties.  

XII.6. Binding on Successors.  Subject to the restrictions on Transfers set forth in 
Article VII, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective 
permitted successors and assigns.  Any reference in this Agreement to a specifically named Party 
shall be deemed to apply to any permitted successor and assign of such Party who has acquired 
an interest in compliance with this Agreement or under law.   

XII.7. Survival.  All representations made by Developer hereunder and Developer’s 
obligations pursuant to Sections V.15, V.19, IX.2, IX.4, XI.1, XII.1, and XII.18 shall survive the 
expiration or termination of this Agreement and the issuance and recordation of a Certificate of 
Completion.    

88



35 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

XII.8. Construction.  The section headings and captions used herein are solely for 
convenience and shall not be used to interpret this Agreement.  The Parties acknowledge that this 
Agreement is the product of negotiation and compromise on the part of both Parties, and the 
Parties agree, that since both Parties have participated in the negotiation and drafting of this 
Agreement, this Agreement shall not be construed as if prepared by one of the Parties, but rather 
according to its fair meaning as a whole, as if both Parties had prepared it. 

XII.9. Action or Approval.  Whenever action and/or approval by City is required under 
this Agreement, the City Manager or his or her designee may act on and/or approve such matter 
unless specifically provided otherwise, or unless the City Manager determines in his or her 
discretion that such action or approval requires referral to the City Council for consideration.  

XII.10. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including Exhibits A through E 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, contain the entire agreement between 
the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior written or oral 
agreements, understandings, representations or statements between the Parties with respect to the 
subject matter hereof.    

XII.11. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute 
one instrument.  The signature page of any counterpart may be detached therefrom without 
impairing the legal effect of the signature(s) thereon provided such signature page is attached to 
any other counterpart identical thereto having additional signature pages executed by the other 
Party.  Any executed counterpart of this Agreement may be delivered to the other Party by email 
and shall be deemed as binding as if an originally signed counterpart was delivered. 

XII.12. Severability.  If any term, provision, or condition of this Agreement is 
held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this 
Agreement shall continue in full force and effect unless an essential purpose of this Agreement is 
defeated by such invalidity or unenforceability.  

XII.13. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Nothing contained in this Agreement is 
intended to or shall be deemed to confer upon any person, other than the Parties and their 
respective successors and assigns, any rights or remedies hereunder.  

XII.14. Parties Not Co-Venturers.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or 
shall establish the Parties as partners, co-venturers, or principal and agent with one another.  

XII.15. Non-Liability of Officials, Employees and Agents.  No officer, official, 
employee or agent of City shall be personally liable to Developer or its successors in interest in 
the event of any default or breach by City for any amount which may become due to Developer 
or its successors in interest pursuant to this Agreement.

XII.16. Time of the Essence; Calculation of Time Periods.  Time is of the essence 
for each condition, term, obligation, and provision of this Agreement.  Unless otherwise 
specified, in computing any period of time described in this Agreement, the day of the act or 

89



36 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

event after which the designated period of time begins to run is not to be included and the last 
day of the period so computed is to be included, unless such last day is not a business day, in 
which event the period shall run until the next business day.  The final day of any such period 
shall be deemed to end at 5:00 p.m., local time at the Property.  For purposes of this Agreement, 
a “business day” means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, a federal holiday, or a state holiday 
under the laws of California.   

XII.17. Governing Law; Venue.  This Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California without regard to principles of 
conflicts of laws.  Any action to enforce or interpret this Agreement shall be filed in the Superior 
Court of Kings County, California or in the Federal District Court for the Eastern District of 
California.  

XII.18. General Indemnification.  Developer shall indemnify, defend (with 
counsel approved by City) and hold harmless Indemnitees from all Claims (including without 
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising in connection with any claim, action or proceeding 
to attack, set aside, void, or annual any approval by City or any of its agencies, departments, 
commissions, agents, officers, employees or legislative body concerning the Project or this 
Agreement.  City will promptly notify Developer of any such claim, action or proceeding, and 
will cooperate fully in the defense.  City may, within the unlimited discretion of each, participate 
in the defense of any such claim, action or proceeding, and if City chooses to do so, Developer 
shall reimburse City for reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred. 

XII.19. Legal Advice.  Each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that 
this Agreement was carefully read, and in signing this Agreement, it is done so with full 
knowledge of any rights; each Party has received independent legal advice from the respective 
legal counsel as to the matters set forth in this Agreement, or has knowingly chosen not to 
consult legal counsel as to the matters set forth in this Agreement; and that each Party freely 
signs this Agreement without any reliance upon any agreement, promise, statement, or 
representation by or on behalf of the other Party, or each respective agents, employees, or 
attorneys, except as specifically set forth in this Agreement, without duress or coercion, whether 
economic or otherwise.  

XII.20. Cooperation.  Each Party agrees to cooperate with the other Party in this 
transaction and, in that regard, to sign any and all documents that may be reasonably necessary, 
helpful, or appropriate to carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement, including, but not 
limited to, released or additional agreements.

XII.21. Rights and Remedies are Cumulative.  Except as otherwise expressly 
stated in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the Parties are cumulative, and the exercise 
by either Party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not preclude the exercise by it, at 
the same, or different times, of any other rights or remedies for the same default or any other 
default by the other Party. 

90



37 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

XII.22. Inaction Not a Waiver of Default.  Any failures or delays by either Party 
in asserting any of its rights and remedies as to any default shall not operate as a waiver of any 
default or of such rights or remedies, or deprive either such Party of its right to institute and 
maintain any actions or proceedings that it may deem necessary to protect, assert, or enforce any 
such rights or remedies, 

SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE

91



38 
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have entered into this Agreement effective as of 
the date first written above.

CITY       DEVELOPER

THE CITY OF LEMOORE,    AMG & ASSOCIATES,
a California municipal corporation   a California Limited Liability Company

By:        By:        

Name:        Name:        

Title:        Title:        

ATTEST:

By: _______________________________ 
Marisa Avalos, City Clerk  

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By:  _______________________________ 
        Mary F. Lerner, City Attorney 

92



39
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Exhibit A

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

(Attach legal description.)

93



40
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Exhibit B

AFFORDABLE HOUSING COVENANTS

94



41
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Exhibit C

GRANT DEED

95



42
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Exhibit D

DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE

96



43
SMITH AVENUE FAMILY APARTMENTS
DISPOSITION & DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

Exhibit E

Form of Certificate of Completion

97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104






























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































105



C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y 

BU
IL

D
IN

G

106



107



108



 
PO Box 260770 

Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development 

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 1 of 14 
 

 
 
April 25, 2022 
 
City of Lemoore 
Attn: Kristi Baley 
711 W. Cinnamon Drive 
Lemoore, CA 93245 
 
Ms. Baley,  
 
Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the City’s inquiry regarding the potential development (the 
“Project”) on APN 023-020-064 and APN 023-020-065 (collectively, the “Parcels”), proposed by AMG & 
Associates, LLC (“AMG”). Please find a table of contents concerning important information contained herein.  
 

Table of Contents 
Introduction to Project and Project Financing…………………………………………………………………..2 

Statement of Qualifications – AMG & Associates, LLC……………………………………………………….3 

Statement of Qualifications - Pacific West Communities, Inc………………………………………………….4 

AHSC Fact Sheet……………………………………………………………………………………………...5-6 

Winning AHSC Projects and Disbursement of AHSC Funds……………………………………………….7-10 

Description of Proposed Project……………………………………………………………………………….10 

Renderings of Similar Projects……………………………………………………………………………..12-13 

Timeline and Answers to Specific Questions Per RFP…………………………………………………….…14 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

109



 
PO Box 260770 

Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development 

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 2 of 14 
 

 
Introduction to Project and Project Financing 

 
AMG intends to construct between 98-110 units on the Parcels utilizing a combination of 9% low-income 
housing tax credits issued by the California Tax Credit Allocation Committee as well as grant funding from 
the Affordable Housing and Sustainable Communities Program (“AHSC”), administered by the California 
Department of Housing and Community Development (“HCD”).  
 
AHSC is a funding program created in 2014 that subsidizes both infill, low carbon-emission affordable 
housing developments and local transportation infrastructure improvements near such development sites, 
servicing the ultimate objective of encouraging Californians to drive less and instead, utilize public 
transportation and non-carbon emission transportation methods, such as walking, biking, and ride-share vans. 
AHSC, like many other public housing funding programs, is competitive. Applications are scored according 
to financial feasibility of the project and transportation improvements, local need for transportation 
infrastructure improvements, and location of the project to amenities and public resources, among other 
things.  
 
In an AHSC application, AMG, our partner firm Pacific West Communities, Inc (“PWC”) and the City of 
Lemoore (the “City”) would participate as co-applicants.  A portion of the total funding received (typically, 
roughly 60%) would be dedicated towards the Project itself while the remainder would be dedicated towards 
transportation improvements, such as new bike lanes, street lights, bus shelters, bus fleet, sidewalks, and van 
fleet (for CalVans). Transportation infrastructure improvements are typically applied in areas in close 
proximity to the Project, which would be identified in the application. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

110



 
PO Box 260770 

Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development 

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 3 of 14 
 

 
Statement of Qualifications (AMG) 

 
AMG & Associates, LLC (“AMG”) is a mid-size land development company that specializes in the 
development of rental housing in California and other western states.  
 
Our philosophy is to capitalize on the added value created through assembling the most qualified and 
trustworthy development and capital partners. We believe that the highest yields are achieved through land 
acquisitions that have been overlooked by developers and investors that do not have the risk appetite for 
complex land entitlements and financing. AMG principals are involved in all aspects of the development 
process in which all of its projects involve an institutional capital partner and an experienced development 
partner.  
 
In every land development project that AMG develops, it takes the land acquisition entitlement risk, develops 
the financing plan, selects the most qualified development partner and capital partner, and then oversees the 
project until the final permanent loan conversion and/or sale. Other land development transactions involve 
joint ventures with land owners or ventures with municipal agencies. To date, AMG has developed over 3,600 
units with a total project cost of over $450MM, partnering with its strategic development partners in 55 
limited partnerships.  
 
Through extensive due-diligence, experience and its own capital at risk, AMG minimizes its capital partners’ 
land development risks. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

111



 
PO Box 260770 

Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development 

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 4 of 14 
 

 
Statement of Qualifications (Pacific West Communities, Inc) 

 
Pacific West Communities, Inc. (PWC) is a real estate development and finance firm specializing in the 
construction and rehabilitation of affordable workforce and senior housing throughout the western United 
States. With a particular emphasis on the use of the affordable housing tax credit, PWC and its related 
companies develop multifamily and senior housing in the states of California, Arizona, New Mexico, Utah, 
Oregon, Montana, Idaho, Nevada, Colorado, Washington, and Wyoming.  
 
The President and CEO of PWC, Caleb Roope has managed the development and construction of over 160 
housing developments since 1998. With a history in the new construction of housing, as well as the 
rehabilitation of existing housing, PWC combines the federal affordable housing tax credit program with 
secondary financing including Home Investment Partnership Program (HOME) funds, Multifamily Housing 
Programs (MHP) funds, Infill Infrastructure Grant funds, Community Development Block Grants (CDBG), 
Affordable Housing Program (AHP) funds, and other local, state, and federal resources to creatively bring 
solutions to communities with affordable housing needs. PWC fills a much-needed housing niche in a variety 
of unique environments with a special focus on rural areas, resort communities, and high-cost communities 
such as Jackson Hole-WY, Truckee-CA, Bishop-CA, Mammoth Lakes-CA, and Eagle-CO. 
 
Caleb Roope’s experiences include all facets of the real estate development and financing processes with 
special emphasis directed toward site acquisition and feasibility evaluations. His companies initiate roughly 
ten new developments per year resulting in approximately twenty-five active projects in various stages of 
development and construction. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

112



PO Box 260770
Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 5 of 14

AHSC Fact Sheet

113



PO Box 260770
Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 6 of 14

AHSC Fact Sheet (Continued) 

114



PO Box 260770
Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 7 of 14

Winning AHSC Projects and Disbursement of AHSC Funds 

AMG, working in conjunction with PWC, has achieved an over 85% success rate in obtaining AHSC funding, 
Of the 7 AHSC applications submitted to AHSC, 6 were ultimately funded. On the following pages, I have 
attached examples of previous AMG/PWC projects that have obtained AHSC funding. Numbers in the 
column “transportation capital funding” indicate funding that was disbursed the cities in which the respective 
project is located.  We obtained approximately $38,800,000 of funding in the 4th round, $35,000,000 of 
funding in the 5th round, and $40,550,000 in the 6th round.  

Round 4 AHSC Awards: AMG/PWC were co-developers in the Amaya Village Apartments in Orange Cove, 
CA, the Madera Veterans Apartments in Madera, CA and the Ocotillo Springs Apartments in Brawley, CA. 

115



PO Box 260770
Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 8 of 14

Winning AHSC Projects and Disbursement of AHSC Funds (Continued) 

Round 5 AHSC Awards: AMG/PWC were co-developers in the Mojave View Apartments in Ridgecrest, CA 
the Coalinga Pacific Apartments in Coalinga, CA and the Riverbend Family Apartments in Oroville, CA.  

116



PO Box 260770
Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 9 of 14

Winning AHSC Projects and Disbursement of AHSC Funds (Continued) 

Continuation of Round 5 AHSC Awards Below: 

117



PO Box 260770
Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 10 of 14

Winning AHSC Projects and Disbursement of AHSC Funds (Continued) 

Round 6 AHSC Awards: AMG/PWC were co-developers in the Newmark Village Apartments in Sanger, CA. 

118



 
PO Box 260770 

Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development 

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 11 of 14 
 

Description of Proposed Project 
 
The proposed project, the Lemoore Apartments, will be between a 100 to 110-unit family housing new 
construction project located on 4.92+/- acres of land identified as APNs 023-020-064 & 020-023-065.  The 
project will be built in 1 phase and will include a mix of two and three-bedroom units. The proposed project 
will target households earning between 30-60% of the area median income for Kings County. There will also 
be ample bicycle parking and bicycle storage units. All units, less the manager’s unit, will be restricted to the 
aforementioned income levels. The Project will be developed in 1 phase.  
 
The units will be newly constructed apartments in three-story garden style, residential buildings in addition to 
a single-story community building.  The type of construction will be wood frame supported by perimeter 
foundations with concrete slab flooring.  This type of construction will allow the building to conform to the 
natural terrain with only minor amounts of grading.  The exterior will be a combination of vinyl lap and shake 
siding with Class A composite roof shingles and stone veneer accents.  Architectural accents will be 
incorporated, providing an aesthetically appealing exterior that blends with the character of the surrounding 
neighborhood and the community of Lemoore.  The development will meet Title 24 energy efficiency 
standards and will qualify as a ZNE (zero net energy) project. Minimum construction standards will be 
adhered to in order to assure that a quality family housing development is provided. 
 
The buildings will be oriented appropriately throughout the site with the intent to create a community concept 
for families to enjoy while remaining social and active. The development will include a roughly 3,000 sq. ft. 
community building with a common kitchen, exercise room, laundry facility, and business center. 
Additionally, the development will include covered picnic tables with BBQs and pergolas made from non-
combustible material, a tot lot, a fenced dog park, a pool, pergola-covered seating areas, garden with raised 
planter beds, and a half basketball court. An on-site resident manager will provide assistance and management 
while residing in a two-bedroom manager’s unit.  
 
Within the units, tenants will enjoy standard features such as refrigerators, exhaust fans, dishwashers, 
disposals and ranges with ovens.  All units feature an outdoor patio or balcony and storage space.  The design 
of these apartments will adhere to all necessary requirements to satisfy Section 504 as well as any additional 
mandates that the local jurisdiction deems appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

119



PO Box 260770
Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 12 of 14

Renderings of Similar Projects (Continued) 

Deer Creek Apartments in Chico, CA shown below. 204 units in total, 156 units in phase 1 which is currently 
under construction.  

120



PO Box 260770
Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 13 of 14

Renderings of Similar Projects (Continued) 
Woodmark Apartments in Sebastopol, CA.  

121



 
PO Box 260770 

Encino, California 91316 

                Land Planning, Finance & Development 

Tel.  818-380-2600 
Fax. 818-380-2603 

Page 14 of 14 
 

 
Timeline and Answers to Specific Questions Per RFP 

 Timeline 

Assuming AMG takes possession of the subject properties by July 2022, AMG will anticipate submitting for 

AHSC funds in February 2023, being awarded in July 2023, submitting for low income housing tax credits in 

September 2023 and obtaining tax credit funding in December 2023. AMG will anticipate commencing 

construction in in early 2024 and completing construction in early 2025 and commence lease out by spring 

2025. This schedule is contingent upon successful funding of AHSC and 9% tax credits.  

 Answers to Specific Questions per RFP 

Type of Project: Family housing (all ages) 

Target Group (Income Level): Households earning between 30-60% of the AMI (area median income) for 

Kings County 

Project Partners and Key Staff: AHSC applicants will be AMG & Associates, LLC, Pacific West 

Communities, Inc., and the City of Lemoore. The Project will be developed by AMG & PWC alone.  

Number of Affordable Units per Acre: Between 20.12 and 22.15.  

Type of Financing for this Project: Grant funding from the Affordable Housing and Sustainable 

Communities program, as well as low-income housing tax credits (LIHTC) issued by the California Tax 

Credit Allocation Committee.  

Requested City Concessions: In order to increase the likelihood of securing of AHSC funding, we will 

require between a 19.5% and 31.5% density bonus to increase the Project density to accommodate 100-110 

units. We will also likely require a slight parking reduction.  

122



 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 
 
 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Lemoore City Council will conduct a 
Public Hearing at its Regular Meeting Tuesday, January 3, 2023 at 5:30 p.m. in the 
Lemoore Council Chamber located at 429 C Street to consider a Disposition and 
Development Agreement pertaining to the sale of surplus property purchased by the former 
Redevelopment Agency for the purpose of providing affordable housing.  The property is 
located at the southeast corner of East D Street and Smith Avenue in the City of Lemoore 
(APN 023-020-064 and 023-020-065) is to be sold in accordance with the Surplus Property 
Land Act.   
 
An Agreement is proposed by and between the City of Lemoore and AMG & Associates 
(Developer) to establish terms on which the City will sell the Property to Developer at fair 
market value and Developer proposes to construct an affordable housing apartment 
complex consisting of up to 108 residential units with a community building, laundry 
building, outdoor pool, tot lot, and dog park on an undeveloped 4.91 acre site zoned 
Medium Density Residential (RMD). The project is Categorically Exempt from the 
requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per Section 15332 
(Class 32 – Infill-Development Projects). 
 
City of Lemoore Planning Commission approved a site plan for this project during a duly 
noticed public hearing on November 14, 2022 and the City filed a Categorical Exemption 
in conformance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) for the project 
identified herein with the Kings County Clerk Recorder. The documents will be on file in 
the Office of the Community Development Department of the City of Lemoore.  Persons 
wishing to review information on file must contact staff by phone at (559) 924-6744 or by 
email at cityclerk@lemoore.com to make arrangements.   
 
Persons having comments or concerns about the proposed project are encouraged to attend 
in person or virtually via Zoom, or submit public comments by e-mail to: 
cityclerk@lemoore.com prior to the end of the public hearing period.  In the subject line 
of the e-mail, please state your name and the item you are commenting on. Persons unable 
to email comments may send them via USPS mail or other courier to City of Lemoore, 
Attn: Planning, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive, Lemoore CA  93245. Mailed comments must be 
received by 4:30 p.m. the day of the hearing. 
 
If you challenge the proposed action in court, you may be limited to raising only those 
issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written 
correspondence delivered to the City at, or prior to, the Public Hearing. 
 
   Kristie Baley 
   Management Analyst 
   City of Lemoore 
 
 
Published in Hanford Sentinel:  December 23, 2022 

123



City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744

Staff Report
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Marisa Avalos, City Clerk
Date: January 13, 2022 Meeting Date: January 17, 2023
Subject: Activity Update
Strategic 
Initiative:

Safe & Vibrant Community
Fiscally Sound Government
Community & Neighborhood       

L   Livability

Growing & Dynamic Economy
Operational Excellence
Not Applicable 

Reports

Warrant Register – FY 22/23 January 6, 2023

124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149




